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To our: shareholders, customers, partners, ,and employees. ‘

2003 was a milestone year for EasyLlnk We achleved the. ﬂrst two - profitable
quarters in our hlstory, and approached breakeven from operatlons for the full year

When we brought EasyLlnk together in 200I we knew ‘we had both an exciting
opportunity as well as a set of critical - challenges. facing us. The ‘opportunity- was clear
enough — to help customers become more competitive by -providing them the ‘means
to conduct business electronically. We would provide the means that would allow them
to communicate with their. customers and -trading partners more -efficiently. The rise . of
e-commerce, the ongoing drive to increase productivity and reduce costs, the clear.-:
need.across: industries for secure- and reliable uses.of the Internet - these.and other
factors created a global business opportunity for Easylink. :

However, the challenges have also been significant. For example, transforming AT&T
EasyLink Services into the nucleus of an independent public-company has been no.
small challenge. We have had .to convince customers that, in. efféect, a new company.
could be entrusted with keeping their business-critical. transactions flowing. Servicing-
infrastructure: such. as network, operations, billing, and customer service.needed to be
taken over by us without causing customer disruption. Technical development had to
be transferred, and everything needed to be renamed-and rebranded. Shortly after
we began this work,-we had a similar undertaking on..our hands when we acquired
the London-based Comtext business from the European technology company GN.
We were low on -cash,-saddled with. debt, and under competitive attack. In the midst .
of all this we were faced with a significant. economic downturn following 9/11/2001. -
Overall revenue was declining. Clearly, the state of the global economy in 2002 and
2003 contributed to this decline, as did our decision to..get out of certain
businesses such as the e-mail hosting business. Some of the decline was related to
integration-related- issues: in some cases we lost revenue. because we caused a
customer disruption; in' other- cases customers were unwilling to let. the new: and
unproven EasyLink handle all- or most of their business. In still other cases,
customers who were -not paymg market-based rates to AT&T demanded them of us:

In hght of aH of these - challenges, the fact that. the new EasyLmk ach|eved
profitability in only its tenth quarter of operations is remarkable: By and large, we. .
have successfully. integrated:the operations of the four: previously competing
companies that provided the underlying technology. and customer base that are
today's Easylink. We have reduced the principal amount of the Company’s debt and
capitalized lease obligations from $127.9 million at the end of 2000 when we were
forming EasylLink to $13.5 million at the ‘end of 2003. We have funded the ongoing
operation of the Company, including expansion of service lines and ‘markets served, -
almost ‘exclusively through the cash generated by the busmess :

Executmg Our Strategy . : -

Easylink’s strategy in..2003- contmued to be. drlven ‘by. four principal;.thrusts. In order.
of importance they were: achieving profitability; becoming our industry’s quality
leader; delivering new. value tS' customers; and expanding our presence in key global
markets..Our two.consecutive profitable quarters in the seécond half of 2003 are the
most critical .outcome of the diligent application of our strategy to date. Our.
improved: financial condition now allows us to focus more of ‘our attention-on
improving the value ‘we. bring- to our customers relative to our competitors..



Achieving Profitability

One of the shared values all EasyLink employees live by is “Growing EasyLink’s
Profitability is Everyone’s Job.” As .a result, our company is. now financially stronger
than ever. Net cash generated from business operations for the full year 2003 was
$7.7 million, up from $2.2 million in 2002. We reduced operating expenses relating
to our cost of revenue, sales and marketing, G&A and product development by a -
combined $15.1 million through planned facilities consolidations, an aggressive focus
on priorities ‘and the ‘resources -required to execute against them, as well as the
efficiencies gained through our Six-Sigma Quality program. Improving our balance -
sheet continued to be a critical initiative in 2003. We eliminated $63.0 million of
debt principal, $6.5 million of capitalized interest, and $2.4 million of accrued
interest, net. of deferred debt issuance costs.'These financial gains, along with the -
significant reduction in- management. time which has been required over the past 18
months ‘to deliver these improvements, allows us to focus more time, attention, and -
resources to growing the business going forward. ‘ : '

On our Way. to Becoming our JIndustry’s Quality Leader

We continued the journey towards our corporate goal of ultimately achieving Six
Sigma Quality. In 2002, EasyLink launched. Six-Sigma Quality throughout the
organization, joining corporations such as GE, Honeywell, DuPont and Motorola in
adopting this .customer-focused way of doing business. Six-Sigma is a rigorous and -
disciplined methodology that uses data:and statistical analysis to measure customers’
“critical to quality” requirements and improve EasylLink’s performance against specific
metrics related to those ‘requirements. Since -our launch of Six-Sigma in 2002, we
have achieved an overall 63% improvement against these metrics, giving us overall
quality levels equivalent to world-class software companies and, | believe, a
measurable quality advantage over our competitors.

Delivering New Value to Our Customers -

Where once we only delivered transactions, EasyLink now has a much deeper
involvement in a customer’s business process through capabilities that include data
capture, format translation, encryption, web-based archiving, and related advisory
services. Our customers began to.reap the benefits of our expanded solution set in
2003. For example, a major insurance company' selected us to streamline its claims
operaticns by capturing the information from faxed claims forms, translating it into
industry-standard XML data, and ‘delivering that data into its claims-system. They
estimate that this process improvement reduces their entire claims .cost by $27 per
claim, in addition to increasing the satisfaction fevels of their customers because claims
are now processed faster and more accurately. We are' working with customers in a
number of industries to achieve similar or even greater results for their businesses.

Expanding our Presence in Key Global Markets

Easylink continued to expand in key global markets during 2003, particularly in
Europe, where our Fax to E-Mail Service is now available in 13 countries. We also
expanded our distribution into the established French and emerging Turkish markets,
and have begun offering our new Transaction Management Services in the UK, where
EasylLink Services UK is a well-established provider of high-value solutions. About a
quarter of Easylink’s revenue now originates .outside of the United States -and
Canada. Many of our large, multinational customers, including our largest. banking
industry customer have significant bases of operation, and in several cases global
purchasing authority located outside of the United States. Customers expect- their
strategic suppliers to do ‘business where they do, so we will continue to expand our .
global sales, support; and range of services offered to meet their needs. ... - . =




The End of the Beginning : :

If at 'some point in the future someone were to write a busmess school case study
on Easylink, an appropriate heading for the year 2003 might be “The End of the -
Beginning” The story up to that:point would discuss how we .brought together
several businesses in various lifecycle stages. It -would touch on lines of business that
'had to be eliminated and business segments it no longer made sense to focus upon,
as well as the need to successfully introduce new, high- -quality capabilities globally to
the company’s many Fortune 500 customers. There would be a section’on the heavy
“debt burden that threatened the company’s survival. 2003 would be portrayed as the
* year things start to come together for ‘the company. Integratlon is substantially
complete. New offers are out.in the marketplace. Debt is no longer a critical issue.
Quality and globalization initiatives are starting to produce measurable. results. The,
company turns in ' two consecutive prof table quarters.

All of these achlevements clearly signify the end of Easylink’s beginning. The ‘many

~.tasks we - have undertaken since EasylLink’s inception have béen necessary not only

for the company’s initial survival, but also its long-term’ success. The necessary
..groundwork — financial stability, quality leadership, new high-value services, and global
presence — for the next chapter in our history has been laid. That chapter will be
, Qn _proﬂtable revenue growth.

The Road Ahead

-Great ‘companies are not born, they. are built. Each starts out. under dxfferent
circumstances, has- a unique mix of ‘assets and liabilities, and charts its own course
towards long-term prosperity. A good company becomes great by relentlessly
pursuing its mission through systematic execution of a solid plan. Easylink is doing -
this. We have had to overcome some challenging circumstances ‘since our founding.
_ EasylLink has emerged from ‘this initial stage of its corporate history as a faster,
stronger, and smarter company, better prepared to fulﬂl ltS m|55|on and meet
tomorrow’s chaIIenges

"Our greatest asset continues to be our customer relationships. | frequently have
occasion to meet with executives of the companies we serve, some of the largest’

- financial services, transportatlon and manufacturing companies in the. world. These

customer meetings. provide: an opportunity to hear firsthand about their challenges
and discuss possible solutions we can . offer, as well as share with them the progress
.EdsyLink, their strategic partner, is making in executing its plan. Our customers provide.
ongoing validation of our missjon and -our plan. Our customers surface new ideas to
create value and on-how we can be a better partner. Our customers tell us that we -
are a company they can believe'in. Our’ customer relationships are a source of

- renewable energy for our entire team that will sustain us on the road ahead..

| thank you, on behalf of all of us at EasyLink, for your continuing s_upport.

" Thomas F. Murawski :‘4
President: and Chief Executive Officér '




Consolidated Selected Financial Data

Five Year Summary of Selected Financial Data (in thousands, excépt. per share and employee data)

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

Consolidated Statement of Operatlons Data for the

Year Ended December 31,
Revenues

$101,347 '$114,354. $123929 $ 526§8 $ 12,709

Total cost of revenues and operatlng expenses (a) 102,264 201,287 296,170 204,196 66,352
Total other income {expense), net (b) ' 52,803 1,088 28,203 {7,405) 6,628
Loss from operations @17 (86,933) (172,241)  (151,498) ' (53,643)
Loss from discontinued operations (938) C- (63,027)  (70,624) -
Extraordinary gain : - 782 o - =
Net income (loss} 50 948 (85,845) (206,283) (229,527) (47.015)
Cumulative dividends on settlement of v .
contingent obligations to preferred stockholders - - - = (14,556)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ‘ 50;948  (85,845) ' (206,283) (229,527) C(61,571)
Basic net income (loss) pgr common share: ' ‘
Income (loss) from continuing operations % 147 $ (5.13y $ (15.26) $ (27 79) % (19.63)
Loss from discontinued operations . . -« (0.03) - (6.68) .. (l2. 35) -
Extraordinary gain - - 0.09. - —
Net income (loss} per common share $ 144 $ (5.13) $ (2185 $ (40.14) $ (19.63)
Diluted net income (loss) per common share: '
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 146 $ (5.13) $ (15.26) $ (27.79) $ (19.63)
Loss from discontinued operations (0.03) ., - (6.68) (12.35) : -
Extraordinary gain ‘ — — 0.09 - .
Net income (loss) per common share $. 143 § (5.13) $ (21.85 $ (40.14) $ (19.63)
Weighted average basic shares outstanding 35402 - 16,733 9,442 5718 3,137
Weighted average diluped shares outstanding 35,654 .. 16,733 9,442 . 5718... 3,137
‘Consolidated Balance Sheet Data at December 31, L
Cash and cash equivalents 6,623 9,554 13,278 4,331 36,870
Marketable securities . - .- - -12,595 7,006
Total current assets 19,813 23,501 . 36,900 86,490 50,137
Property and equipment, net 10,641 14,833 21,956 38997 28,935
Goodwill and other mtang|b|e assets, net 17,895 20,814 107,937 154,804 28,964
Total assets ©49.411 61011 - 170,242 306,917 137,267
Total current liabilities 31,575 43,126 ' 54,494 ' 54242 28336
Long-term capital lease obligations S3T 196 566 12,638 12016
Capitalized interest on notes payable, less current portlon - 956 - 7,402 . 13,750. - ' -
Long-term notes payable . : oo 10,511 71,398 - 80,923 100,32¢ - . . -
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 4412. (61,822) 20,503 138,935 96,014
Number of Employees at December 31, 483 - 572 587 1401 276
{a) Included in operating expenses are:

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibie assets 2919 6,75I‘ 52,068 39977 - 2979
Write-off of acquired in-process technology - - - 7,650 900
Impairment of intangible assets - 78,784 62,200 - -
Restructuring charges 1,478 . 2,320 . 25,337 5,338 -
(Gain) loss on sale of businesses L - (426) 1,804 - -




Consolidated Selected Financial Data

(b} Included. in other income. (expense), net are: S . : : FE
S g . 2003 12002 2001 2000 1999

Interest income ~ © ’ o 36 189 565 4,686 1,885
Interest éxpense ~ - ' : (1,390)  (4,785) (10,383) 9.791) (751)
Gain on debt restructuring and settlements 54,078 - 6,558 - . 47,960 - =
Impairment of investments — (L5158 L (10,431) (200) Co=
Loss on equity investment: e - =L = (2,100) -
Other,net . - - - | . } 79 - 641 - S92 . - 5,494

The consolldated selected f‘nancnal data should be read in con|unct|on with the consolidated financial
statements and the notes to these statéments and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Cond|t|on and Results of Operations” elsewhere in this document. The consolldated financial statements
included hereln have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The
Companys |ndependent public accountants have included two. explanatory paragraphs in their audit report
accompanying the 2003 consolidated financial statements. The first explanatory paragraph states that the
Company has suffered recurring losses from operations since inception and has a working capital deficiency
that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard
to this matter are also described in Note I(b). The consolidated financial statements do not include any’
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. The second explanatory paragraph states
that as discussed in Notes I(i), 1(j) and 6, the Company adopted. Statement of Fmancnal Accounting Standards
No I42 “Goodw1|l and Other Intangible Assets" ‘as of January” I, 2002 T

We belleve that due to the many acquisitions that we made in recent years and dlsposmons during 200I ' -
the perlod to period comparisons for 1999 through 2003 are not meanlngful and should not be relied upon .
as lndlcatwe of future performance.

See * Managements Discussion and Analysus of Financial Condition and Results of Operatlons for a discussion
of factors that affect the comparablllty of the selected financial data”in the ‘years presented above.

s



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations . = .

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results = of
Operations o

RS o

,

The following discussion and:analysis of .the financial -

condition and results of operations should.be read in
conjunction  with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere
in this annual report. The consolidated financial

statements included herein have been prepared.
assuming that the Company will continue as a going
_independent  public -

concern. The Company’s
accountants  have  included’ two  explanatory
paragraphs in their audit report accompanying the
2003 consolidated financial statements. The first
explanatory paragraph states that the Company has
suffered recurring’ losses from operations since
inception and has a working capltal deficiency- that
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as

a going concern. As shown in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements, prior to 2003, the
Company incurred net losses of $85.8 million and
$206.3 million for the two years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of
December 31, 2003, the Company had’

accumulated  deficit of $548.3  million and

stockholders’ equity of $4.4 million. Managements.
plans in regard to this matter are also described in

Note |(b). The consolidated financial statements do
not include any adjustments that might resulc from
the outcome of this uncertainty. The second
explanatory paragraph states that as discussed in
Notes I(i), I(j) and 6, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” as of
January 1, 2002.

Overview

We are a provider of services that facilitate the
electronic exchange of information between
enterprises, their trading communities and their
customers. On an average business day, we handle
approximately one million transactions that are
integral to the movement of money, materials,
products and people in the global economy such as
insurance claims, trade and travel confirmations,
purchase orders, invoices, shipping notices and funds
transfers, among many others. We offer a broad
range of information exchange services to
businesses and service providers, including
transaction delivery services such as electronic data
interchange or “ED),’ telex, desktop fax, broadcast
and production messaging services; services that

lintegrate  our
“infrastructures. On March 30, 2001, we ‘completed

protect corporate e-mail systems such as virus
protection, spam control and content filtering

'services; and document capture and management

services such as fax to database, fax to data and
data conversion services. - L ‘

Until March 30, 2001, we also offered advertising
services and consumer e-mail services to Web sites,
ISP’s and direct to consumers. In this market, we
provided Web-based e-mail services or WebMail to .
Internet Service Providers (ISPs) including several of
the world’s top ISPs, and we partnered with top
branded Web sites to provide WebMail services to

“‘their users. In addition, we served the market
directly

flagship = web  site
2000, we

through  our

www.mail. com. On October 26

fannounced our intention to sell our advertlsmg

network business and stated that we ‘would focus
exclusively on our established outsourced messaging
business. We also announced that as a result of our

*decision to focus on outsourced messaging ‘business,

we would streamline the organization and further
technological and operational |

thesale of our advertlsmg n‘etwor,k and consumer
e-mail business to Net2Phone. In connection with
the sale, we entered into a hosting agreement under

. which we would host or arrange for a third party

to host the consumer e-mailboxes for Net2Phone
for a minimum of one year. In November 2001, we
terminated the hosting agreement with Net2Phone.

In March 2000, we formed WORLD.com to develop

the Company’s extensive portfolio of domain names

into major Web properties, such as Asia.com and
India.com, which served the business-to-business
and business-to-consumer marketplace. Through its
subsidiaries, WORLD.com generated revenues
primarily from sales of information technology
products, system integration and  website
development for other . companies, advertising
related sales and commissions earned from booking
travel arrangements. On November 2, 2000, we
announced our intent to sell all assets not related
to our core outsourced messaging business,
including Asia.com Inc., India.com inc, and our
portfolio of domain names. On May 3, 200l, our
majority-owned subsidiary Asia.com, Inc. sold its
business to an investor group. In October 2001, we
sold a subsidiary of India.com, Inc. and we have

.ceased conducting its portal business. Accordingly,

the results of World.com and its subsidiaries have
been reclassified as discontinued operations in our
financial statements for all periods presented. See




Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Notes I{(c) and -9 to our consclidated financial
statements for additional information.

Revenues:

For the -year ended ‘December 3lI,
revenues ~were ~ $101.3 million

The declines in revenue' in- 2003 and -2002 as

compared to the prior year primarily occurred in -

our production messaging services, which include fax,

telex and email hosting as a result of lower volumes

and negotiated individual customer price reductions

at the time of service contract renewals and loss.of -

certain customers. However, the declines may

continue. These services . have been impacted by"
pressures. . in the.

continuing pricing
telecommunications market and by | technological

factors that replace or reduce the deployment, of '
such serwces by our customers. We intend to offset.
this continuing revenue erosion by offering new

services  including Document Capture  and
Management _services and Integrated  Desktop
Management services. :

During 2_003 and 2002, we generated s:ubstant_ially‘: -

all of our, revenues from information exchange
services to enterprises. During 2001, we generated
approxmately 98% of our.
information  exchange ser*vices '
enterprises and approximately 2% of. our, revenue
from the advertising network business and other

sources. All revenues from information exchange ..
services for the years ended December 31, 2003

and 2002 were . generated from companies. we
acquired since August 1999. Approximately. 98% . “of

our revenues came from these acquired businesses

during 2001.
Operating 'Resu‘ItS ,

Our operating results have significantly improved in

2003 even though revenues declined. in comparison -
to- -2002 and 200l. Our net income -was .
$50.9 million.for 2003 -as: compared to net losses-
of $85.8 million and $206.3 million for the.years -
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The improved results are attributable to a: number-:
of key factors including (1) the-decision to -stop .

offering advertising and consumer email 'services
and to discontinue - the

acquisition of the Easylink Services business as part
of the Swift acquisition and: (3) the restructuring of

2003 total
compared to
$114.4 ‘million in 2002 and $123.9 million in 200f. :

. revenues - from.
provided  to

operations - of - the
WORLD.com businesses as described above, (2) the

r. debt .obligations which reduced interest
expense to $1.4 million in 2003 from $4.8 million:
in 2002 ‘and from $10.4 million in 200| and which-
resulted  in- gains . of -$54.1 million in 2003,
$6.6 million in 2002 and $48.0 million in 2001. The
results for.2002 and 2001 also included charges of .
$78.8 million and $62.2 million, respectively for the -
impairment of intangible assets and, in 2001,
amortization of goodwill amounted to $40.4 million.

In light of .the evolving nature of our business and.
our limited operating history, we believe "that
period-to-period comparisons of our revenues and
operating results are not meaningful and should not
be relied upon as indications of future performance.
We believe the nature of our revenues in future-
periods will be more comparable to that of 2003.

Our prospects should be considered in light of risks
described in the section of this report entitled “Risk
Factors That May Affect Future Results”

Critical Accounting Policies

In " response to the ' Securities & Exchange
Commission’s (SEC) Release No. 33-8040,
“Cautionary Advice. Regarding Disclosure About
Critical Accounting. Policies,” we have identified the
most critical accounting principles upon which our
financial status depends.™ Critical ' principles were
determined by considering accounting policies that
involve the most complex’or subjective decisions or
assessments. The most critical accounting policies
were identified to be those related to revenue.
recognition, accounts ' receivable, long-lived assets
and intangible’ assets,’ contmgenqes and litigation,’
and restructurings. '

Revenue Recognition
The Company’s business messaging services include
message delivery services such as electronic data
interchange or “EDI,” telex, desktop fax, broadcast
and production messaging services; ' groupware
hosting services; services that - help protect
corporate e-mail systems such as virus protection,-
spam control ‘and - content filtering services, and
professional messaging services and support. The
Company derives revenues from monthly fees and
usage-based charges for our 'message delivery
services; from monthly per-user or per-message fees
for groupware hosting and virus protection, spam -
control and content filtering services, and license
and . consulting fees. for our professional services.
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Revenue * from e-mail and groupware hosting

services, virus protection, spam control and .content. -

filtering services, message delivery services ‘and

professional services is recognized- as the services .

are performed. Facsimile license revenue - is
recognized -over the average estlmated customer life
of 3 .years. g

Prior ‘to: the sale of the Advertising ' Network
Business on March 30, 2001 (see Note 3),
advertising ‘revenues were .derived principally from
the sale- of . banner advertisements. Revenue on
banner advertisements was 'recognized ratably as
the advertisements or respective impressions were
delivered either on.a “cost per thousand”. or “cost
“per action” basis.. Revenue on upfront - placement

fees and promotions was deferred and recognized -

over the term of the corresponding agreement.

e

The Company. also traded. advertisements .on. its

Web properties in exchange for-advertisements on
the Internet sites of other companies as part of the

ad network business. Barter -revenues .and.expenses ',

were recorded at the fair market value of services
provided or .:received; whichever was. more
determinable in: the circumstances. Revenue from
barter ‘transactions were -recognized as--income
when advertisements were . delivered on ' the
Company's Web properties, Barter expense was

recognized when the Companys advertisements:are-.

run on, other companies’ Web -sites, which is
typically in the same -period when barter revenue
was ' recognized. Barter revenues, which. . are -a
component of advertising revenue, amounted to
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Barter expenses, which are a component of cost of
revenues, were approximately the same-$0.6 -million
for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Other revenues mcludes revenues from (I) the sale
of .domain names, which are recognized at the time
when the ownershlp of the. domain name is
transferred _provided that no signific cant, Company
obligation remains and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable and (2) the . licensing of

domain names wherein the revenue is recognized.

vratably over the license. perlods To date, such
revenues have not been material.

Accounts Receivable

We perform ongoing credit -evaluations- of . our -
customers and .adjust -credit ' limits - based upon-

payment history and the customer’s. current credit

worthiness, as determined by.a review of their.
current credit information. We  continuously
monitor collections and payments from our
customers and maintain a provision for estimated
credit losses based upon historical experience and

any specific customer  collection ‘issues that have...

been identified. While such credit .

will continue- to experience the same credit loss
rates. that have. been experienced in the past.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Iosses have .,
historically been within .our expectatlons and the -
provisions established, we cannot guarantee that we.. -

Effective January |, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142,

“Goodwill ‘and’ Other Intangible Assets” and SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the

Impairment  or

Disposal of Long-Lwed Assets”, SFAS 142 eliminates '
the amortization: of goodwill and indefinite- Ilved‘ '

intangible assets, ‘addresses the amortization’ of
intangible assets with finite lives -and 'addresses

impairment testing and recognition for goodwill’and ™
44"

indefinite-lived intangible assets. ‘SFAS- No.

establishes a single ‘model for the impairméint of
long-lived assets. We assess goodwill and indefinite~

lived
events occur that require: more frequent ‘reviews.’

Long-lived assets, including amortizable’ mtanglbles, :

are tested for impairment whénever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying,
amount” of an asset may not be recoverable.
Discounted cash flow analyses are used to assess
indefinite-lived - intangible  impairment

intangibles for impairment annually unless

i wh|Ie :

undiscounted cash flow analyses are used to assess

long-lived asset “impairment. If an”
indicates impairment, the impaired asset is written
down' to its fair market value baséd &n ‘the best
information available. Estimated fair market value is
generally measured with discounted -estimated
future cash flows. Considerable management

assessment

judgment is necessary to estimate undiscounted and

discounted future cash flows. Assumptions used for
these cash flows are - consistent .with-::internal
forecasts. On an " on-going basis, .

depreciation of long-lived .assets, -including goodwill
and other intangible assets. During .this review; we
reevaluate -the significant . assumptions
determining the -original cost of long-lived assets.
Although = the = assumptions - . may : vary  from
transaction to transaction, they generally. include
revenue growth, operating: results, -cash flows and-
other “indicators of - value.” Management then
determines whether there has been an’ impairment
of the value of -long-lived assets based upon events

management .
reviews the value and period of amortization or "

used in .

=
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or .cifcumstances; .which- have occurred since .

acquisition."The impairment. policy is consistently
applied. in evaluating impairment -for each of: the
Company’s wholly " owned

investments. S

Contmgencues and thlgatlon

. “!' “
We | evaluate contmgent Ilabllmes
threatened .or pending litigation in. .accordance with

SFAS No. 5, “Accounting -for Contingencies” and
record accruals when the outcome of these matters

is deemed probable and the liability is reasonably
estimable. Ve make these assessments based on the
facts and curcumstances and:in some instances based
in part on-the. advice. of outSIde legal ‘counsel.

Restrucﬁuring Activities

Reeifdciurlng activities in 2003 and 2002 are

accounted for in accordance with "SFAS No. 146.
Prior to 2002, restructuring activities are accounted

for in accordance with the: giidance provided i the

consensus opinion of the Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) in connection with’ EITF Issue 94-3

(“EITF ©94-3"). "EITF 94-3 generally requires, wnhf;;'
respect to' the recognition“of severance expenses, -
management approval of the restructuring plan, the -

determination of the employees to be terminated,

and communication of benefit arrangement to

employees

in july 2002,"che FASB issued SFAS No. 146,

“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or..
Disposal Activities”. SFAS No. 146 will ‘supersede -
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No..94-3; “Liability.

Recognition “for Certain Employee Termination ¢
Benefits -and Other Costs. to Exit. an Activity
Incurred. "in a-

(including . Certain . Costs
Restructuring).” SFAS- No. 146 requires that costs

associated - with "an .exit or " disposal plan be:

recognized when incurred -rather than at the .date
of a commitment- to an exit or disposal plan. In

accordance with the. standard, the  Company will .-
apply ‘SFAS No. 146 to ‘exit or disposal- activities

initiated after December 31, 2002.
Acquisitions, Investments and Divestitures
Continhing Operations ‘ ‘

GN Comtext .

During July 2001, we acqunred the assets of GN .
Comtext (“GN”) for $1. Additionally; we received a-

$1.1 million unsecured interest free ‘loan from ‘the

sub;idiaries. and -

|ncludmg'

former: parent company- of- GN, GN Store Nord
AJS, which was paid in the fourth quarter of 2001,
and received approximately $175,000 for transition
services. revenues “which  were “recorded as a
reimbursement of costs during the.third .quarter of -
2001. GN offers value:added messaging services to
over. 3,000 customers ranging from small' business -
to multi-national companies-around the world. The
excess of fair-market value of the assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed over the purchase price
resulted in negative goodwill of $782, 000 which was
recognized as an ‘extraordinary gain during the
quarter ended September 30, 2001 in accordance
with - the ' provisions - of Financial - Accounting
Standards' Board’ Statement No |4I, “Business
Combmatlons -

Swift Telecommumcatlons, . Inc. and -
EasyLlnk Services .

On February -23, 200, we .acquired Swift
Telecommunjcations, Inc.,, (“STI”). Just prior to the .-
acquisition in january 2001, .STI .acquired the,
EasyLink Services. business (' EasyLlnk “Services”).

from AT&T Corp. At.the closmg of -the acquisition.

by STI of the Easylink Services business from AT&T, .
we advanced $14 million to STl in the form of a
loan, the proceeds of which were used to fund part -
of the cash portion of the purchase price to AT&T.
Upon the closing of the acquisition of STI, we
assumed a $35 million note issued by STI to AT&T .
The $35 million note was secured by the assets. of

STI, including the EasyLink Services business, and the
shares of our Class A common stock issued to STI’s
then sole, shareholder (who became an officer and
director of EasylLink) in the -transaction. The note

was payable in equal monthly instaliments over four - -

years with interest at the rate of |0% per annum.
In November 2001, the note, and accrued interest
thereon, was exchanged for a new note in. the
principal-amount of $10 millien, | million shares of
the Company’s Class A common stock. and warrants .
to purchase an additional | million shares of stock.
In March 2003, the Company commenced a lawsuit
against AT&T and PTEK Holdings, Inc. arising out of

the attempt by AT&T ‘to sell the new note and.the
shares to PTEK. In- October 2003, the Company -
entered into a.settlement of the lawsuit. Under the .
settlement, the ‘Company agreed to consent to the -
transfer of the shares and the note from AT&T to
PTEK . in -.exchange for a revised amortization
schedule on the ‘new note and the return of the
warrant.to the Company for cancellation. Under the
revised ‘terms- of the. note; the Company. will repay
the $10,019,464. ‘remaining outstanding balance of-
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principal of and interest on the Note as of
March 30, 2004 and all future accrued interest by
making . equal quarterly installment payments of

principal and interest in the amount of $800,000 .

and a final payment of approximately $5.75 million

on the June [, 2006 maturity. date. The note .

continues to be secured by the same security
interests ‘that secured the $35 million note. See
Note 7 for a description of the Restructuring of
certain debt and lease obligations. '

Upon the closing of .the acquisition of STI, the
Company paid to the sole shareholder of STI (who.
became -an. officer and director of Easylink)
$835,000 in cash and issued an unsecured note for
approximately $9.2 million and
1.9 million shares of our Class A common stock

valued at approximately $30.8 million as the -
purchase price for the acquisition” of STI. WWe have "

also agreed to pay additional consideration to the

former sole shareholder of STI equal to the amount -
of the net proceeds, after satisfaction of ‘certain -

liabilities of STl and its subsidiaries, from the sale or
liquidation of the assets of one of STI's subsidiaries.

‘Through March 30, 2004, we have paid-an aggregate
of $1.4 million of this additional commitment. We"

also reimbursed the sole shareholder of STl for a
$1.5 million advance made to STI, the proceeds of
which were used to fund the balance of the cash
portion of the purchase price for STI's acquisition

of the Easylink Services business and certain other

obligations to AT&T. The $9.2 million note was non-
interest bearing and payable in four equal semi-
annual- installments over two years. In November
2001, this note was exchanged for a new note in
the principal amount of $2.7 million, 268,296 shares
of the Company’s Classs A ¢common stock and

warrants to purchase 268,296 shares of stock. In- -

May 2003, the $2.7 million note  was - further
exchanged for a new note in principal amount of
$284,504 of which $47,250 remains outstanding as
of March 30, 2004. See Note 7 for a description of
the restructuring and settlement of certain debt and
lease - obligations. :

In connection with the acquisition of STI, we also
entered into a conditional commitment to acquire
Telecom International, Inc. (“TI)”). TI} was an affiliate
of STI prior te our acquisition of STl The former
sole shareholder of STi (who became an officer-and

director of the Company) is a principal beneficial
shareholder. of Tll. The purchase price for TIl was.

originally agreed to be $117,646 in cash, a
promissory note in the aggregate principal amount

of approximately $1,294,118 and 267,059 shares of

approximately -

our Class A common stock. In order to facilitate
the debt restructuring and to reduce our debt
obligations and cash commitments, the parties
agreed to modify our commitments in respect of
TIL In lieu of ‘acquiring Tll, we purchased certain
assets owned by TII for $250,000, payable in six
monthly payments of $10,000 commencing May 27,
2002 and one payment of $190,000 on
November 27, 2002. We also. agreed to reimburse
TIl for up to 50% -of TIs payments on certain
accounts payable up to a-maximum reimbursement
of $200,000, to cancel a $236,000 payable owed by
Tli to ST and to issue up to 20,000 shares of Class
A common stock to TIl valued at $122,000. In
addition, we issued 300,000 shares of Class A
common stock to Til valued at $1,890,000. g

As part of the transaction with ST, we also entered
into a conditional commitment to acquire the 25%
minority . interests in two STl subsidiaries for
$47,059 in cash, promissory. notes in the -aggregate
principal amount of approximately $517,647 and
106,826 shares of Class A- Common Stock. This
transaction is sublect to certain conditions, including
satisfactory completion of due diligence, receipt of
regulatory  approvals .and. other customary
conditions. '

NetMoves

On February 8, 2000, we acquired NetMoves
Corporation (‘NetMoves”), a provider of Internet
fax  transmission - -services for approximately
$168.3 = million including acquisition costs of
approximately $2:1 million. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase business combination.
We- issued 635,448 shares of Class A common
stock valued at approximately $145.7 million. In
addition, - we assumed outstanding- options and
warrants of NetMoves which represent the right to-
purchase 96,244 shares . and 5,734 shares
respectively, .of our Class A common stock at
weighted average exercise prices of $66.90 and
$86.40, respectively. The options and warrants were .
valued at an aggregate of approximately
$20.5 million.

NetMoves (renamed Mail.com Business Messaging
Services, Inc., and, again, EasyLink Services, USA, Inc.)
designs, develops and markets to businesses a
variety of Internet document delivery services,
including e-mail-to-fax, fax-to-e-mail, fax-to-fax and
broadcast fax services. This acquisition” enhanced
our presence in the domestic and international
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business ! service - market, provided- us with an-

established sales force and international distribution -

channels and expanded our offering of Internet-.
based messaging services. : .

Discontinued Operations

In March 2000, we formed World.com, Inc..in order
to -develop our portfolio "of domain names into
independent © web: properties and subsequently
acquited or formed its subsidiaries Asia.com, Inc.’
and India.com, Inc,, in which World.com was the
majority owner. On March 30, 2001, we announced

our intention to sell- all assets not related to our

core outsourced - messaging business including
Asia.com, Inc., India.com, Inc. and ‘our portfolio of
domain names. Accordingly, World.com -has 'been
reflected as a discontinued operation: © = -

On March ‘14, 2000, we acquired eLong.com, Inc,, a -

Delaware”  corporation ("eLong.com”) for
approximately $62 million including acquisition costs
of approximately-$365,000. eLong.com, through its"
wholly owned subsidiary in the People’s Republic of
China, operated the Web Site www.eLong.com,

which was a provider of local content and other -

internet services. The acquisition was accounted for
as a purchase business ‘combination. Concurrently
with the merger,‘eLong.com changed its name to

Asia.com, Inc. (“Asia.com”). In the merger, we issued

to the former stockholders of ‘elong.com an
aggregate of 359,949 shares of Class A common
stock valued at approximately $57.2 million, based
upon our average trading at-the date of acquisition,
All outstanding options to purchase elong.com
common stock - were. converted into options to .
purchase an aggregate: of 27,929 shares of Class A.
common stock. The  options
approximately $4.4 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we -wrote. .off
approximately $7.8 million. of goodwill, as it was
determined that the carrying value had become
permanently impaired as a result of

were valued at -

our

November 2, 2000 decision, as approved by :the -

Board of Directors, to sell all assets not related to
our core messaging. business, including our Asia-
based businesses. Please see the discussion on

Impairment Charges included in 'the .Results of .-

Operations and Liquidity and - Capital Resources’
sections below for additional information. X

On ‘May 3, 200}, our majority “owned subsidiary
Asia.com, Inc. sold its business to an investor group.

. services to businesses

Under the terms of the sale, the buyer paid
Asia.com .$1.5 million. and assumed elong.com
liabilities of approximately $1.5 million. The
consideration paid was determined as a result of
negotiations between the buyer and us. In addition,
we issued' 20,000 -shares of .its Class A common
stock - valued at $138,000 -in exchange for the
cancellation of certain--options granted to the
former owners of elongcom. The Company
accounted for this transaction as part of the sale of
the business of Asia.com. As a result of the sale, we
recorded a "loss on the sale of eLong.com, Inc. of
$264,000. After the closing of the sale, we issued
36,232; shares to elong.com, Inc. in 2001 as full
satisfaction .of an indemnity obligation. The
indemnity obligation arose out of elong.com’s
settlement of a claim brought by former Lohoo
shareholders for a contingent payment. Lohoo was -
previously acquired by elLong.com, Inc.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - 2003 and 2002
Re\(enues

Revenues in 2003 were $101.3 million as compared
to $1144 million in 2002. The decreasé of
$13.1 ~million ~was due primarily to reduced-
revenues in our production messaging services,
which include fax, telex and email hosting, as a
result of lower volumes and negotiated individual
customer price reductions and- loss of certain
customers. Revenues consist almost entirely of
revenues from providing information exchange
and are derived from
electronic data interchange services or “EDI™;
production messaging ‘services; integrated desktop
messaging : services; -boundary. and managed email
services; and -other services. -

Cost of Revenues

Cost’ of revenues for 2003 decreased to
$49.6 million from $57.6 million in 2002. As a
percentage of revenues: these costs decreased to
48.9% in 2003 as compared to 50.0% in 2002.
However, the 2003 costs are net of a $1.2 million
(1.2% of revenues) reversal of previously accrued
telecom costs as'a result of a negotiated agreement
with one of the company’s providers. Without the
reversal,‘costs:as a percentage of revenue would-
have remained- unchanged at 50%. Cost of revenue
reflects a decrease in: costs as a percentage of
revenue -equal to 2% due to’ depreciation charges .
and an increase’ in other costs as a.percentage of
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revenues equal to 2% due to fixed network

expenses and fixed telecom expenses. Reductions in. -
costs from continuing cost reduction programs in .

network operations, telecom -rates, reductions “in
facilities, including reducing the number of circuits,
and reduced variable telecom charges consistent

with reduced customer volumes also reduced total. ..

2003 costs in comparison to 2002. o

Cost of revenues consists
incurred . in the -delivery- and support - of . our
services, including depreciation of equipment .used
in our computer systems, ‘the cost
telecommunications services including local access
charges, leased network backbone circuit costs and
long. distance  domestic  and

with our systems and databases

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses were $18.4 million and
$20.2 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Included
in this category are costs related to salaries and
commissions for sales, marketing, - and . business

development personnel. Aiso included are costs for
promotional programs, trade shows and marketmg_‘

materials. The cost decrease of $1.8 million .is

primarily the result of lower staffing levels in 2003.

We anticipate increases in sales and. marketing
expenses beyond 2003..

General and Administfative Expenses

General and -administrative ' expenses . were
$24.4 million in 2003 as compared to . $28.7 million

in 2002. The ‘$4.3 million decrease is the net impact -

of various cost component changes but the most
significant reduction was $2.6 million in our
provision for bad debts as a result of improved
collection and credit activities. While certain cost
components may vary, we anticipate general and
administrative expenses in total to be comparable
to 2003 levels.

Product Development Expenses

Product development costs, which con5|st pnmarnly
of personnel and consultants’ time and expense to
research, conceptualize, and .test product launches
and- enhancements to our. products, - were
$6.4 million for 2003 as compared to.$7.4 million

in 2002. The net decrease in costs mostly. relates to-

lower - consultants- costs and lower. salaries

primarily - of : costs.-

of -

international -
termination. charges, and personnel costs assouated‘

attributable to fewer employees. We ‘anticipate that
spending - for product development will increase
over 2003 in connection with continuing
development of new services.

Restructuring Charges

During the year ended December 3, 2002,.
restructuring charges of $2.3. million were recorded
by the Company. The Company’s restructuring
initiatives are related to the relocation: and
consolidation of its New Jersey office facilities into
one location which was completed in 2003 and a
similar consolidation of facilities for-our operations in
England. The restructuring charges are comprised of
net abandonment cost with respect to leases and the .
write-off of leasehold improvements. During the year
ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded
additional restructuring charges of $1.5 million for
net abandonment costs on U.S. leases as estimated
sublease rentals were reduced due to deteriorating.
market conditions for subleasing the vacant facilities
and a negotiated settlement of lease obligations in
England. :

Gain on Sale of Business-

In 2002, the Company recorded a $300,000 gain
attributable to the sale of customer contracts for
hosted email services- (NIMS) and a '$126,000 gain
attributable to the sale of a software and consultmg
business in Europe. :

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets

As of January |, 2002, the Company adopted FASB
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangibles”:
Statement No. 142 requires companies to no longer
amortize goodwill but instead to test goodwill for .
impairment on an annual basis. Accordingly, we did
not amortize any goodwill during the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 respectively. We
completed an impairment -assessment in the 4th.
quarter of 2002 with the assistance of an
independent appraiser and determined that an-
impairment -of goodwill had. occurred. Based on a
subsequent fair value analysis of the Company's -
goodwill, other intangible :assets and other.iong-lived
assets, we. recorded an aggregate impairment of
$78.8 million in the 4th quarter of 2002. The
impairment of the other intangible assets reduced
the basis for future amortization charges resulting in
the $4.7- million decrease in amortization charges .
for 2003 in comparison to 2002. Total charges are .
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$2.1

respectively. <,

Other Income (Expense), Net

million ‘and $68 m|II|on in 2003 and 2002 .

Interest income for 2003 was $36,000 ‘as. compared‘ -

to $189,000:during 2002. The decrease was due to™
lower . cash ‘balances and lower |nterest rates on-

temporary mvestments

Interest expense was $1.4 million in 2003 as
compared to $4.8 million in 2002. The decrease was

primarily due to reductions in the total debt .

balances outstandmg as

a result of the debt

restructurlngs and settlements completed in 2003 .
. B .o L

and 2002.

Gain on Debt Restructurmgs and Settlements

Durlng 2003, we ‘ellmlnated '$63.0 . million  of |

indebtedness in - exchange for the payment of

$3.1 million in cash and the issuance.of 23.9 million

shares of Class A common
$13.6 millioh pursuant to our announced efforts to
eliminate substantially all of our’

indebtedness. . After reversmg $65 million  of

stock valued at

outstanding

previously capltallzed interest and $2.4 millién of

accrued interest net of debt issuance costs, we
recorded total gains of $54.1 mllllon on these
transactions.

In 2002, we' eliminated $5 5 million of lndebtedness

in exchange for the payment of $0.6 miltion-in cash .

and the issuance of 5,415 shares of Class A
common stock valued at $6,000 pursuant to our

anndunced efforts to eliminate substantially” all of

our outstanding indebtedness. After reversing
$1.7 million. of previously .capitalized interest, we
recorded a gain . of $6.6 million, on these
transactions. - . :

The: elimination of outstanding debt will result in
substantial
income tax purposes. We inténd ‘to minimize ‘the
income tax payable as a“result of the restructuring
by, among other things, offsetting the income. with
our historical het operating losses and otherwise

reducing the income in accordance with applicable- -

income tax rules. As a result; we do ‘not expect to
incur any material current income tax liability from

the elimination of this. debt. However, the relevant‘

tax . authorltles may . challenge our. income tax
posmons

Loss from Discontinued Operations -

In September 2003, a previously vacated judgment
in the amount of $931,000 was reinstated against
the Company in: connection with the: Company’s

income from cancellation of  debt for -

suit. against a -broker engaged by the Company in.
connection with the ‘proposed sale of the - portal
operations .of its discontinued India.com business
and the broker’s' counterclaim against the Company.
The judgment- and related costs, net of previously
recorded reserves, .is reflected as the loss from
discontinued operations "in- the current quarter.
statement. See Note: 18 — .Commitments and
Contingencies — Legal Proceedlngs for addmonal
information. : : :

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - 2002 and 2001
Re\"ren,l‘,les' '

Reveniies in 2002 were $1 14.4 million as-compared
to $123.9 ‘million in 200{. The, decrease of
$9.5_million occurred even though révenues from
our acqmsntlon,of STl in 200l, including the
EasyLink Services_ business acquired by STI from
AT&T . Corp., were included for the full year 2002
as compared to the shorter 2001 period from
February 23, 2001, the date of acquisition, through
December 31, 2001, The decrease in reveniues was
partially due to lower volumes associated with our °

production messaging services and_. .negotiated
customer price reductions. Also  impacting
comparative results were! (l) a decrease in

advertising revenues of $1.6 million as a result of
the sale of our advertising network in- March 2001
and -(2) the loss ‘of $1.5 million in email hosting
revenues resulting from the termination of a hosting
arrangement -related to the sale of our advertlsmg
network

Revenues for 2002 and 2001 consist almost entirely -
of revenues from providing information exchange
services- to " businesses which ‘are derived from
electronic data interexchange services or “EDI”;
production ‘messaging services; integrated desktop
messaging ‘services; boundary and managed email
services; and other services largely consisting of
legacy fax services. In 2001, $1.6 million or 2% of
our revenues -were from our advertising network,
which included barter revenues of $0.6 million.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues in 2002 decreased to
$57.6 million as compared to $75.9 million in 2001.
The reduction in our cost of revenues resulted in
a gross profit- of 50% in 2002, representing an
improvement of | | percentage points over the 2001 .
results of 39%, Cost of revenues' consists primarily
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of ‘costs directly related ‘to. the. delivery: of . EDI,
telex;. fax. and email messages. It
depreciation of equipment used-in our' computer

systems; the cost -of :telecommunications - services .
.charges, leased network:

including local access

includes -

backbone ' circuit costs and long distance. domestic - -

and international- termination-: ‘charges;:.licensing

charges for third party network software;..and .

personnel
databases and support services. In addition, as. it
related to our advertising network in 2001, we
included the cost. of barter trades. .

The reduction in cost of revenues in 2002, both in

total amount and as a percentage of revenues; and the

increase in gross profit percentage, is. attributable to

the increase in higher margin revenues. from the STI‘ .
acquisition, including the 'EasyLink Services busmess, N
the on-going benefit “of cost reductlon programs

.costs ~associated with: our .systems,.

implemented throughout 2001 and 2002; $3 3 million _ .

of reduced charges for network support urider the

Transition ' Services Agreement (TSA) with AT&T,

$6.1 mnlhon in lower depreoatnon charges; negotlated .

cost reductions in ' certain . telecommunications

services; and the. elimination of $2.0 million of costs

associated with our advertising network busmess thatm‘

was sold in March 2001.

Sales and. Marketing Expenses -

Sales and marketlng expenses were - $202 mnlhon in
2002 as compared to $28.2 million for, 2001,
representing a decrease of $7.9 million:-In 2001 the

Company recognized $1.6 million in gains related to :

favorable = advertising and  marketing . cost
settlements, which were recorded as a reduction of

our sales and marketing expenses in 2001. Without:

sales . and--
marketing expenses for 2002 in comparison. to 2001
would have decreased by $9.5 million. The decrease."

these net cost reductions in. 2001,

from year to year was primarily due to eliminating
$4.1 million in costs associated with our. advertising
network business that was sold on March. 31, 2001;
$2.9 million in reduced domestic employee related
sales - expenses; and $0.7 million .in ‘

costs related to salaries and commissions for sales,

marketing and business development personnel, and. -

costs associated with various campaigns mostly
conducted in 2001 to build our.brand..

General and Admmlstratwe Expenses
General and administrative expenses were

$28.7 million - during * 2002 -as compared :to
$41.4 -million during . 200}.

reduced ;-
advertising spending. Included in- this category are-.

The $12.7. million

customer

decrease was primarily attributable to $1.8 million
in reduced charges under the AT&T Transition
Services Agreement. as support for these
administrative functions from AT&T ceased in 2001;
$2.0 - ‘million
without. a. corresponding increase in. salaries and-
related: costs; the reversal of $0.6- million of prior
years’ accrued employee cash bonuses in 2002 and
a decrease of $3.4 million in our provision for
doubtful accounts for 2002 as. compared to 200/
due to enhariced billing and _collection efforts.
General and  administrative expenses prlmarlly"
consist of compensatlon and other employee costs
for corporate office functions, customer support,
billing operations and management
information - .systems. This -cost .:category - also
includes _our provision. for doubtful accounts and .
corporate wide overhead expenses ' '

Product Development Expenses

Product development costs, which. consist prlmanly _
of personnel and consultants’ time and expense to
research, conceptualize and test product launches’
and  enhancements to our products were
$7.4 million in 2002 as compared to $9.2 million in
2001. The prior year's costs were 5|gn|f'cantly higher
as “the first quarter of 2001 included the
development expenses related to our advertising
network; which we sold on March 31, 2001 and we
utilized consultants to a greater degree durmg 2001.

Amortization “of Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets and lmpalrment of
Intanguble Assets .

Amortization of - intangible - assets’ decreased to
$6.8 million in 2002 as compared to $52.1 million
in 2001 as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142
-~ YGoodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. This
standard - eliminates. goodwill amortization upon. .
adoption .and requires-.an - initial assessment for
goodwill impairment: within. six months of adoption
and at least annually thereafter. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, goodwill amortization from
continuing operations was-$43.] million or $2.57
per share and $3.9 million or $0.23 per share from
discontinued operations.

In connection with the adoptlon of Statement 142
on January 1, 2002, we reclassified $3.6 million in’
net book value associated W|th assembled
workforce to. goodwill..

Upon initial adoption, we completed an assessment
with the. assistance of an independent appraiser and
determined that there was' no .impairment.

-in réduced costs for- consultants -
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In connection with our. annual assessment in the
fourth quarter of 2002, a third party impairment
assessment..was -completed which indicated - that’
there was an impairment of goodwill. The current
~economic and market conditions have:

forecasts with lower growth rates and a signifi cantly
lower market capitalization for the Company. ..
Accordmgly, a_fair value analysis was performed on

the Company’s. goodwill, other-intangible assets and.

other long lived assets. This resulted in an aggregate
impairment of $78.8 million which.is included in the-
2002 -loss from. continuing operations which is
attributable to current -economic and market
conditions. In 2001,
goodwill..impairment charges associated with our
NetMoves and.. professional services acquisitions.
The impairment: charges in 2001 resulted from our
previously -employed business review process, based
on quantitative and qualitative measures, and- the

assessment of the need to record impairment losses .

on long-lived assets used in operations when
|mpa|rment indicators are present.

Restructurlng Charges

Durmg 2002 and 2001, restructurlng charges of

$2.3 million and $25.3 million, respectively were. .

recorded . by the Company. During 2002, our
restructuring charges were related to the relocation
and consolidation of our .New Jersey-based .
corporate office facilities into. one location and a
similar consolidation of our office facilities in

England. For 2001, our restructuring initiatives were -

related to our strategic decisions to exit the
consumer messaging business and to focus on our
outsourced  messaging. - business. The 2001
restructuring program also included an incremental.
reduction .in the workforce of approximately 150

employees. -In addition, asset disposals of $24.1 .
million reflect. write-downs of excess fixed assets .

and other assets to their net realizable values.

Gain or loss on the sale of businesses

Gains on sales ,of businesses in. 2002

$300,000 derived from the sale of our customer
contracts for hosted email services (NIMS) and
$126,000 attributable to the sale of a software and
consulting business in ‘Europe. Loss on sale of
businesses of $[.8 million in 2001 represents the-
loss incurred from the sale of our advertlsmg

network in March 2001.
Dther Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense),. net mcIUdes interest
income from our cash investments and marketable

led to

we recorded $62.2 million in.

included .

securities; interest expense related:to our 7%
Convertible Note offering, other notes payable and
capital lease obligations; gdins on debt restructuring
and settlements; and gains, losses and impairment
charges.related to investments. * :

Interest income for the year ended December 31,
2002 was $189,000 as compared to $565,000 in
2001. The decrease in 2002 was principally due to
lower cash_balances and lower interest rates..

Inte}'est expe'hse was $4.8 mi.IIion in 2002 as

" compared to $10.4 million in 2001. The $5.6.million .

decrease was due to reductions in the total debt .
balances- outstanding during.2002 as. compared to
2001. as a result .of the exchange transactions and
debt restructurings completed -in 2001 as described
below. In addition, no interest expense is recognized
on .the notes issued in connection with .the
exchange transactions or on the restructured notes
issued to AT&T and the former shareholder of STI
in accordance with FASB Statement. No. 15
“Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled
Debt Restructurings” (See Note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Galn on Debt Restructurmg and Settlements

In 2002 we eliminated $5.5 mllllon of mdebtedness
in exchange for the payment of $0.6 million in cash
and the issuance of 5415 shares of Class A
common stock valued at $6,000 pursuant to our,
announced efforts to eliminate substantially all of
our -outstanding - indebtedness. After reversing
$1.7 million of previously capitalized interest, we
recorded. a gain of .$6.:6 million on these
transactions.

In 2001, net gains of $48.0 million on debt
restructuring were primarily refated to the issuance
of $23.8 million principal amount of 10% Senior
Convertible Notes in exchange for the cancellation
of $75.9 million principal amount of 7% Convertible
Subordinated Notes and the subsequent exchange
of $2.5 million of the new 10% Senior Convertible
Notes for . 1.4 million shares of our Class A
common stock.

Impairment of Investments

As indicated above, management performs on-going
business .reviews and, based on quantitative and
qualitative: measures, assesses the need to record
impairment . losses - on .- its investments when
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impairment indicators are present.

investments. in Bantu, Inc., BulletN.net and. OnView

was " other-than-temporary and recorded charges- of

$1.5 million and $10.! million for the years ended
December 3t 2002 and 200| respectwely

Dlscontmued Operations

In- 200! the loss from - dlscontlnued operations
includes the results and other costs related to our

discontinuance of our World.com business including
subsidiaries, Asia.com, Inc. and: India.com Inc. The -

$63.0 million loss from discontinued operations

included a’writesdown of $56.4 million of assets,

primarily goodwill, to net realizable value, operating
losses of $4.5 million, severance and related-benefits
of "$1.3 million ‘and ‘- other -
$08 m||||on ‘

Extraordinary Gain

During July 2001, we acquired the assets of GN

Comtext (“GN”) for $1. Additionally, we received
a $1.1 million unsecured interest free loan from the
former parent company of GN, GN Store Nord A/
S, which was paid in the fourth quarter of 2001,
and received approximately $175,000 for transition
services which were recorded as a reimbursement

of costs during the third quarter of 2001 and will.

collect and retain a percentage of certain accounts
receivable collected ‘on behalf of GN. GN offers
value-added messaging services to" over 3,000
customers ranging from small business to' multi-
national companies around the world. The excess of
fair market value of the assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed over the purchase price resulted
in negative ‘goodwill ‘of $782,000 which ‘was
recognized as an extraordinary gain, in dccordance
with the provisions of FASB Statement -No. I4I
“Business Combinations.” :

Liquidity and Capital "Resour"cesv'

Net cash provided by ‘operating activities was’

$7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
in comparison to $2.2 million in cash provided from
operating activities for 2002 and ($1.0) million used
in operations for 2001. This
consistent * with the. improvement in operating
results as we implemented a restructuring of our
operations . through' acquisitions. : ‘and  the

discontinuance of the .consumer advertising network.

Management.
determined that the decline in value of its cost '

improvement is

and- the development of domain name properties
through ‘WORLD.com as previously described. In .-
addition, we have reduced our debt obligations to -
$13.5  million .at December -~ 3l, 2003 from -
$75.6 million at December 31, 2002.

Net cash used ‘in investing ‘hcti\)ities for purchases of
property and equipment was $4.2 million- and ™
$3.5 million for -the years ended Decémber™ 31,

2003 and 2002, respectively. The: expenditures in the
2003- period’ included $1.9 million related to the

~ consolidation of-our New. Jersey office facilities into -

related costs and~
expenses |ncludmg the closure of facnlltles of.-

a single location. For 2001, cash' used for capital*
equipment purchases’ amounted to $5.3 million and
cash used for acquisitions, mostly related to the STI”
transaction, was $15.3 million. Offsetting these 2001
uses were $12.5 million in proceeds from the sales

and maturities of marketable securities, $2.0 million ™

from the sales of investments and $4 é million from
the sales of busmesses - :

Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities was $6.0 million
for  the year ended December 3}, 2003 as
compared to cash used of $2.3 million for the year
ended- ‘December ~ 31, 2002.- The 2003 activity
includes  $5.8 - million in- debt payments and -
additional payments to " extinguish ‘debt in~
connection with the -previously mentioned debt’
elimination " ‘trahsactions and ‘proceeds
$1.0 million" from the issuance in a private-"
placement of 1.9 million-shares of Class A common'
stock. In the 2002 period, we made $0.8 million of
scheduled principal -and debt - extinguishment
payménts, $0.9 million of interest . payments on -
restructured notes and $0.6" million ‘in payments "

under capital lease obligations. In 2001, $16.3 million -~

cash- was ‘provided by financing' activities. This
included $25.3 million in financing -activities and "
payments for debt service and capltal leases of
$9.0 million. -~

At December 31, 2003, we had $6.6 million of cash
and - cash equivalents: Although this ‘reflects a -
$2.9 million reduction in cash balances from
December 31, 2002, cash of $1.9 million was used ~
for our new office facilities in 2003 and will not
occur in-2004. Payments: in 12003 to complete the
debt elimination transactions will not occur in 2004. -
Debt service payments in 2004 are expected to be’
$4.0 million in comparison to the $5.8 million in
payments for 2003. In 2001, $16.3 million was -
provided by financing activities. During 200!, the
company raised approximately $16.5 million. from
the .issuance of ‘convertible debt and notes payable

of -
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and $8.7 million from the issuance of Class A
common stock. n

Below is a table that presents our contractual
obligations and commitments at December 3,
2003:

Payments Due by Period (in thousands)

Less
than
Contractual . One 1-3 4-5 After
Obligations * Total Year  years years 5 years
Long-term debt
obligations, including
 capitalized interest- $15464 § 3997 $11,467 $ - % -
Operating lease .
obligations 18,356 4321 4966 4,051 5018
Purchase obligations -
mostly consisting of
telecommunications
contract
commitments 10,638 7,756 2,882 - -
Other long-term
liabilities reflected on
our balance sheet 1,104 - 1,104 - -
Total $45,562 $16,074 $20419 $4,051 $5018

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements
that have or are reasonably likely to have a current
or future effect on our financial condition, changes
in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results
of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or
capital resources that are material to investors.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001, we. received a report from our independent
auditors containing an explanatory paragraph stating
that we suffered recurring losses from operations
since inception and have a working capital deficiency
that raises substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern. As shown in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements,
prior to 2003, the Company incurred net losses of
$85.8 million and $206.3 million-for the two years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
As of December 31, 2003, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $548.3 million and
stockholders’ equity of $4.4 million. Our
consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments relating to the recoverability and
classification of recorded asset amounts or the
amounts and classification of liabilities that might be
necessary should we be unable to continue as a
going concern. If the Company’s cash flow is not
sufficient, we may need additional financing to meet
our debt service and other cash requirements.
However, if we are unable to raise additional

“financing, .- restructure. . or. . settle.

additional
outstanding debt. or generate sufficient: cash flow,
we may be unable to: continue as a going concern.
Management . believes :the Company’s. -ability to ..
continue as a going. concern :is 'dependent upon its. .
ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its
obligations on a timely basis, to obtain additional
financing or refinancing as may be required, and to
achieve and maintain  profitable  operations.
Throughout 2001, ‘management improved the
Company’s operations. and liquidity through a
variety of dactions, including the acquisition and
integration of STi/EasyLink Services, a reduction of
its workforce, the sale or closure of all of its
World.com businesses, and the sale of its
advertising network. In addition, management raised
over $20 million in cash financing during 200I.
Throughout 2002 and 2003, management continued
the process of improving the Company’s operations
through further cost reductions to the point that
net cash of $2.2 milien and $7.7 million,
respectively, was provided from operations for
those years. In 2003, the Company reduced its debt
by $63.0 million, thereby reducing its interest
expense from $4.8 million in 2002 to $1.4 million
in 2003. Management is continuing the process of
further reducing telecommunications and network-
related operating costs while increasing its sales and
marketing efforts. There can be no assurance that
the Company will be successful in these efforts.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk, primarily
from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and credit risk. The Company maintains
continuing operations in Europe (mostly in the
United Kingdom) and, to a lesser extent, in
Singapore, Malaysia and India. Fluctuations in
exchange rates may have an adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations and could also
result in exchange losses. The impact of future rate
fluctuations cannot be predicted adequately. To date
the Company has not sought to hedge the risks
associated with fluctuations in exchange rates.

Market Risk — Our accounts receivable are subject,
in the normal course of business; to collection risks.
We regularly assess these risks and have established
policies and business practices to protect against
the adverse effects of collection risks. As a result we
do not anticipate any material losses in this area.

Interest Rate Risk — Interest rate risk refers to
fluctuations in the value of a security resulting from
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changes in the general level of interest rates.
Investments that are- classified 'as cash and cash and..
equivalents have original maturities of three months
or less. Changes in ‘the market’s. interest rates do
not affect the value of these investments.




Consolidated Balance Sheets _ o

(In thousands, except share and per share data) -
December 31,

' 2003 2002
ASSETS
Current assets: ' - :
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,623 $ 9,554
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,824 and ' .
$8,052 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively o 11,430 11,938
Prepaid expenses and other current assets o7 ) 1,760 2,019
Total current assets | . oo ’ ' T 19,8137 23,511
Property and equupment net Coe 10,641 . 14,833
Goodwill, net - . 6,266 6,266
Other intangible assets, net . . o 11,629 14,548
Other assets ; ' B 1,062 ‘1,853
Total assets ' : L. $ 49411 $ 61,01
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities: _ o :
Accounts payable T o L : $ 9,082 $ 10,235
Accrued expenses ‘ 14,336 20,853 -
Restructuring reserves payable K ' 1,894 1,651
Current portion of notes payable . - 2,957 4,152
Current portion of.capitalized |nterest on notes payable L. o4 4,283
Other current liabilities - ' . h438 1,592
Net liabilities of discontinued operations ' 828 360
Total current hablhtles - ) e 31,575 43,126
Notes payable, less’ current portion = - ' ‘ : : - 10,511 71,398
Capitalized interest on notes payable, less current portion. . ot 956 7,402
Other long term liabilities " . . 1,957 . 907
Total liabilities i L ce 44999 122,833
Stockholders’ equity (deﬂcn)
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 510, 000,000 shares authorlzed at
December 31, 2003 and 2002: o T '
Class A ~ 500,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2003 and B
2002; 42,821,500 and 16,129,319 ‘shares issued and outstanding at ‘ : : S
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively S 428 : 161 -
Class B — 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 3], 2003 and 2002; o - :
1,000,000 issuedand outstandlng at December 3| 2003 and 2002 {0 10
Additional paid-in capital : . . 552,589 537,544 "
Accumulated other comprehensive Ioss o L (272) (246)"
Accumulated deficit o - (548,343) (599,2%91)"
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) T 4412 (61,822)
Commitments and contingencies S ; o ' B
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity" (deﬂc) . . e .8 49411 % 61,011

See accompanying -notes to. consolidated financial statements. .
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

“(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 200)
Revenues $10(,347 $114,354 $123929 -
Operating expenses: ' o -

Cost of revenues. 49,553 57,601 75914
Gross profit 51,794 56,753 48,015
Sales and marketing 18,379 20,151 - 28218
General and administrative 24,405 28,694 41,421
Product development 6,383 7412 9,208
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets 2,066 6,751 - 52,068
Impairment of intangible assets - 78,784 62,200
Restructuring charges 1,478 2,320 25,337:
(Gain) loss on sale of businesses - (426) 1,804

52,711 143,686 220,256
Loss from operations. (917) (86,933) . (172,241)
Other income (expense): -

Interest income 36 189 565

interest expense (1,390) (4,785) (10,383)

Gain on debt restructuring and settlements 54,078 6,558 47,960

Impairment of investments - (1,515) o (10,131)

Other, net 79 641 ' 192
Total other income, net 52,803 1,088 28,203
Income (loss) from continuing operations 51,886 (85,845) (144,038)
Loss from discontinued operations (938) - (63,027)
Income (loss) before extraordinary item 50,948 (85,845) . (207,065)
Extraordinary gain _ - - - . 782 .
Net income (loss) ' $50,948 _ $(85,845) $(206,283)
Basic net income (loss) per share: _ : ) .
Income (loss) from continuing operations $1.47 $(5:13) $(15.26)
Loss from discontinued operations (0.03) - - (6.68)
Extraordinary gain ~ - - 0.09
Net income (loss) per share $1.44 - $(5.13) - $(21.85)
Diluted net income (loss) per share: - o
Income (loss) from continuing operations $1.46 $(5.13) $(15.26)-
Loss from discontinued operations ' (0.03) - (6.68)
Extraordinary gain’ - - 0.09
Net income (loss) per-share . -$1.43 $(5.13) $(21.85)
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 35,401,809 16,732,793 9,442,047

‘ 35,653,336 9,442,047

16,732,793

Veighted-average diluted shares outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated- financial statements. -
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Year Ended December. 3 I,

2003 2002 = 2001

Cash flows from operating activities: '
Net income (loss) $ 50,948 $(85,845) $(206,283)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash " ,

provided by (used in) operating activities: LoD
Loss from discontinued operations 938 - ' 63,027
Depreciation and amortization 8,295 10,417 16,811
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets 2,919 8,039 52,068
Amortization of partner advances - - 2,304
Non-cash compensation - - . 479
Non-cash interest 184 1,830 1,030
Provision for doubtful accounts I 2,596 7,224
Provision for restructuring 1,478 2,320 25,337
Extraordinary gain - - (782)
Gain on-debt restructuring and settlements (54,078) (6,558) (47,960)
Issuance of shares as matching contributions to employee o

benefit plans 492 437 . 441
Other amortization charges 65 208 1,076
Write-off of fixed assets 119 204 .. 956
(Gain) loss on sale of businesses - (426) 1,804
Jmpairments of goodwill - 78,784 62,200
Impairments of investments = 1,515 10,131
Issuance of common stock for India.com preferred stock - - © 6,108

~ Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of

acquisitions and discontinued operations:

Accounts receivable, net 508 7,278 2,276

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 260 (210) 3,216

Other assets 460 (83) - 375

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities (4,931)  (18,34¢) (2,800)
Net cash provided by (used) in operating activities 7,658 + 2,160 (962)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment, |nclud|ng :

capitalized software (4,214) (3,498) (5,267)
Proceeds from sales of businesses ) - 426 . 4,641
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities - - © 12,533
Purchases of intangible assets - ~ (1,756)
Proceeds from sales of investments - - 1,950

- Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ‘ - - (15,308)

Net cash used in investing activities (4214 - (3,072 - {3,207)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of Class A common stock £,000 - 8,725
Net proceeds from issuance of Class A common stock upon :

exercise of employee stock options .70 . - -
Proceed from issuance of convertible notes, net L= - 14,110
Payments under capital lease obligations (426) (585) (5,137)
Proceeds from notes payable Co= s 2,44|
Principal payments of notes payable (5,793) .. (82I) (3,870)
Interest payments on restructured notes and capitalized interest _(843) - . L7L -
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities L992L (2,303) 16,269
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash L ,

equivalents - (27) (209) (34)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,575). . . (3,424) 12,066
Cash (used in) discontinued operations 7 (356) - (300) (3,119)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year : 9,554 . - 13278 - 4,331
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 6623 °

$ 13,278

~$ 9,554

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information:

During” the three years .ended December - 3[, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company paid approximately .
$0.7 million, $3.1 million,” $6.5 million, respectively, for interest. In addition, the Company issued 284,304,
888,810 and 294,533 shares of Class A common stock valued at approximately $184,000, $!.8 million and
$640,000, respectively, as- payment of interest in Ileu of cash for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Co'n;;pany '|s'sued 98, 841 and 682,234 shares,
respectively, of its Class A common stock valued at approxnmately $524 000 .and $4.4 million, respectively,
in connection with certain settlement obligations,

During the years ended . December - 3I 2002 and 2001, the Company issued 127,550 and 196,000 shares,
respectively, of its Class A common_stock valued at approximately $182, 000 and $1.2 million; respectively,
in settlement of vendor. obllgatlons

Durmg the year ended December 3I 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectlvely the Company issued 531,545, 314,642
and 75,209 shares respectlvely in connection with matching contributions to its 40[K plan. These shares were .
valued at approximately $492,000, $437 000. and $412,000, respectlvely

Non-cash |nvest|ng actlwtles

Durmg the years ended December 31, 2001, the Company tssued 22,222 shares of its Class A common stock
in connection with certain investments. These transactions resulted in non-cash investing activities of
$400,000. During the year ended December 31,2001, the Company issued 1,896,218 shares of its Class A
Common stock plus stock options in connection with certain acquisitions. These transactions resulted in non-
cash Jinvesting actwmes of $31.1 mllllon (See Note 2).

No shares were |ssued in connectlon wuth non -cash |nvest|ng activities .during the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002.

Non-cash financing ;acti'vities:

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the company lssued 23,881,705 shares of Class A common stock
in connection with its cancellation of debt. This resulted in non-cash financing activities of $13.57 million (See
Note 7). During the year ended December 3[, 2001, the Company issued approximately 2,810,937 shares
of Class A common stock in connectlon with the cancellation of debt. This resulted in non-cash financing
activities of $17.1 million (See Note 7).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2003 and 2002

(1) -Summary  of ~ Operations
Significant- Accounting Policies ’

(a) Summary of Operations -

The Company offers a broad range of information
exchange services to businesses” and - service
providers, including transaction delivery services such
as electronic data interchange or “EDI” telex,
desktop fax, broadcast and productlon messaging
services; managed e-mail and groupware hostlng‘

services; and services that protect corporate e:mail’

systems such as virus protection, spam control and
content  filtering  services and  transaction
management services including * document capture

and management services stich as fax to database, fax -

to data and data conversion servuces

Until March 30, 2001, the Company also offered
advertising services and consumer e-mail services
to Web sites, ISP’s and direct to consumers through
its web_site www.mail.com. On October 26, 2000,
the Company announced its “intention to sell its
advertising network business and stated that it will
focus exclusively on its established outsourced
messaging business. The Company also announced .
that ‘as a result of its decision ‘to focus onits
outsourced messaging business, it was streamlining
the organization, taking advantage of lower cost
areas and further integrating its technological and
operational infrastructures. On March 30, 2001, the
Company completed the "sale of its advertlsmg
network and consumer é-mail business to

Net2Phone. See’ Note 3 for- addltlonal mformatlon -

In March 2000, EasyLink formed WORLD.com to
develop the Company’s extensive portfolio of domain
names into major Yeb properties, such as Asia.com
and India.com, which served the business-to-business
and business-to-consumer marketplace. Through its

subsidiaries, WORLD.com generated revenues
primarily from sales of information technology
products, system integration and  website

development for other companies, advertising related
sales and commissions earned from booking travel
arrangements., On November 2, 2000, the Company
announced that it would sell all assets not related to
its core outsourced messaging business, including its
Asia.com Inc., and India.com Inc. subsidiaries, and its
portfolio of category-defining domain names. On
May 3, 2001, Asia.com, Inc. sold its business to an
investor group. In October 200}, the Company sold

and -

" accumulated ~and
stockholders’ equity of $4.4 miilion. The Company

+ 90% of a subsidiary of India.com, Inc. and the

Company has ceased conducting its portal business.
Accordingly, the results of Worldcom and its.
subsidiaries ‘have: been reflected as - discontinued

_operations .in the consolidated financial statements

for all periods -presented. See Notes [(c) and 9 for
additional information.

(b) Consolidated Results of Operations
~and Management’ Plan. :

The accompanying consolidated financial statements

have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
contemplates “the realization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities "in the normal course of
business. To date, the Company has suffered recurring

losses from ‘operations since inception and has a

working capital deficiency that raises Substantial

- doubt about. its ability’ to continue as a going

concern. As shown in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, prior to 2003, the Company
incurred net losses of = $85.8 million and
$206.3 - million “for thé two years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001l; respectively. As of
December 3|, 2003, the Company had an
deficit of $5483 million and

may need additional financing to meet cash
requirements for its operations. If the Company is
unable to generate sufficient cash flow or raise
additional financing, the Company may be unable to
continue as a going concern.

" The accompanying consolidated financial statements

do not include any adjustment relating to the

recoverability and classification of recorded asset
amounts or the amounts and classification of

liabilities that might be necessary should the
Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
Management believes the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern is dependent upon its
ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet its
obligations on a timely basis, to obtain additional
financing or refinancing as may be required, and to
achieve and maintain  profitable  operations.
Throughout 2001, management improved the
Company’s operations and liquidity through a

variety of actions, including the acquisition and
integration of STI/EasyLink Services, a reduction of
its workforce, the sale or closure of all of its
World.com businesses, and the sale of its
advertising network. [n addition, management raised
over $20 million in cash financing during 2001.
Throughout 2002 and 2003, management continued




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

the process of improving the Company’s operations

through further cost reductions to the -point that -

net cash- of $2.2 million

and $7.7 . million, -
respectively, -‘was provided- from - operations. for:.
those years. In 2003,.the Company. reduced its.debt -

by $63.0 million, thereby reducing its. interest. ’

expense from $4.8 million in 2002 to ${.4 million -

in 2003: Management is continuing the process of
further reducing telecommunications and retwork-
related operating costs while increasing its sales and
marketing efforts. There can be no assurance that
the Company wiII‘be successful in‘these efforts.

(c) Prmcnples of Consolldatlon and Ba5|s
of Presentatlon ‘

The'consolidated financial statéments include - the
accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned ‘or
majority-owned subsidiaries from the' dates
acquisition. Al other investments that the Company
does not have the ability to control or exercise

of -

significant influence over are accounted for under the ™

cost method. The interest of ‘shareholders other- than
those of Easylink is recorded 'as minority interest in
the accompanying consolidated statements
operations and consolidated balance sheets. When
losses applicable to minority - interest holders in a
subsidiary exceed the minority interest in the equity
capital of the subsidiary, these losses are .included. in

the Company’s results, as.the minority interest holder -

has no obligation to provide further financing to the

of -

subsidiary. All: significant intercompanyaccounts and:
transactions have been eliminated in consolldatxon .

-

WORLD com, a wholly owned ° subS|d|ary, and its -

majority-owned subsidiaries have been reflected as

discontinued: operations- and prior year amounts
have been reclassified to reflect such treatment (See -
Note 9). In September 2003, a previously vacated .

judgment in the amount of $931,000-was reinstated
against the Company in connection. with a suit
against ‘a broker engaged by the Company to sell
the portal dperations of its discontinued India.com

business and the brokeér’s ‘counterclaim thereof. The

judgment and: related costs, net- &f reserves, are
reflected in the loss from discontinued operations
in the consolidated statement of operations -for the
year ended December 31, 2003.

Effective January 23, 2002, the Company authorized
and implemented a |0-for-1 reverse stock split of all
issued and outstanding stock. Accordingly, alt. issued

and outstanding.share and per share amounts in the,

accompanying consolidated fi nancnal statements have

27

M

been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse
stock spllt

)

The preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and.
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses. These estimates and assumptions relate to
the estimates of coIIectlblllty of accounts receivable,
the realization 'of goodwill and .other intangibles,
accruals 'and other factors. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. '

(e) -

The Company considers all highly liquid securities,
with original maturities of three months or less
when acqunred to be cash equwalents

Use of Estlmates

Cash and Cash Equivalents’

Property and Equlpment

Property .and equipment are stated at cost.
Depreciation. is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the
related -assets; generally. ranging from three to. five
years. Property and equipment under capital leases
are stated at the present value of minimum lease
payments and are amortized using the straight-line’
method over the shorter of the lease term or the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line .
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets
or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.

(g Domain Assets’ Held For Sale and
Reglstratlon Fees

A domain name is the part of an email address
that comes after the @ sign (for example, if
membername@Europe com is the email address
then “Europe.com” 'is the domain name). Domain
assets represent the purchase of domain names and-
aré amortized using the straight-line method over
their economic useful lives, which had been
estimated to be five years. During the first quarter
of 2001, the e-mail addresses for many of the
domain names ‘were sold to Net2Phone as part of
the sale “of the advertising network (see Note 3).
The net carrying value of these assets at the time
of sale w\as‘_apprqmmately $2.3 million: :



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All domain assets are classified as held. for sale at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and are no:longer
being amortized. The net carrying value of domain

assets amounting to $0.2 million is -included in

Othver Assets.

(h) “_'Ilnvestm'e_n'ts "

Investments in WhICh the Company owns less. than

20% of a company’s stock and does not have the’

ability to exercise significant influence are accounted
for on ‘the cost basis. Such investments are’ stated
at the lower of cost or market value and are
included in. other non’ current assets on the balance

sheet. The ‘equity method of accountlng is used for
companies” and other investments in which the .

Company has significant infiuence;” generally this

represents common stock ownership of at least

20% but not more than 50%. Under the equity
method, the Company’s proportionate share of each

investee’s operating losses is included in loss on.
Statement. of -

equity investments within = the
Operations. These investments are included in other

non current assets on -the ‘Balance 'Sheet. The

Company assesses the need to record impairment

losses .on investments and records such losses when
the impairment is determined to- be other-than«

temporary. These losses’ are included -in other

income (expense) in the Statement of Operatlons g

o~

@ Accountmg for Impalrment of Long-

Lived and |ntanglble Assets o

Effective January |, 2002, the Company adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other fntangible
Assets” and "‘SFAS No. |44, “Accounting for the

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Asset”: SFAS

142 eliminates the amortization of goodwili and. .

indefinite-lived intangible assets,'addresses the

amortization of intangible assets with finite lives and

addresses. impairment testing and recognition for
goodwill -and intangible assets.
establishes a. single model for the impairment. of

long-lived assets. The Company assesses goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets for |mpa|rment‘,'
annually unless events occur that -require’ more .
including ..
amortizable mtanglbles are tested for impairment
in  circumstances -

frequent reviews. . Long-lived assets,

whenever events or changes
indicate. that the carrying.amount of an asset may

SFAS No. 144

not be recoverable. Discounted cash flow .analyses =

are used.to assess indefinite- lived |ntang|ble asset
impairment while undiscounted cash flow analyses
are used to assess finite lived intangibles and other
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long-lived .. asset; impairment: If -an " assessment
indicates impairment, the-impaired .asset is..written
down ‘to its' fair market value based on the:best.
information. available. Estimated. fair market value is
generally: measured -with discounted  estimated -
future - .cash - flows. . Considerable management
judgment is necessary. to estimate undiscounted and .
discounted. future cash flows. Assumptions used for
these .-cash flows are consistent with -internal -
forecasts. On an on-going basis, management reviews
the value and period- of amortization or depreciation. -
of long-lived : ‘assets, including goodwill -and. other
intangible assets. During this review, we reevaluate
the: significant assumptions used in determining the - -
original cost of long-lived assets. Although- the. ..
assumptions may vary from transaction to
transaction, they generally include revenue growth,
operating results, cash flows and other indicators of .
value. Management then determines whether there .
has been an .impairment of the value of Iong-hved
assets based upon events or circumstances, which
have occurred since acquisition. The. impairment .
policy is consistently applied in evaluatmg impairment
for each of the Companys wholly owned subsndlartes
and . investments. L . ]

§)) v’ |ntang|ble Assets R . ‘vr

Intanglble assets mclude goodW|II -tnademarks',;‘.
customer - lists, technology: and - other intangibles.
Goodwill ‘represents the excess of the. purchase
price of acquired businesses over the estimated fair
value of the ‘tangible and: identifiable intangible..net
assets acquired. In 2001, goodwill amortization was
recorded using the straight-line “method over
periods -ranging: from three ‘to ten years. Effective
January |, 2002, .the: Company adopted: the .
provisions. of -Statement .of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS)---No. ‘142 Goodwill - & Other
Intangible - - Assets;. - which  ceases  goodwill
amortization:-and requires an annual,assessment of -
goodwill, for impairment. in the .absence of an: .
indicator .of .possible impairment. Trademarks. and. -
customer-lists are, being amortized-on a straight-line
basis over ten years.Technology. is being.amortized. -
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives
from three. to-five years. See.note 6. . - -

(k) Income Taxes ~

Income taxes-are accounted for under the asset and
liability :method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities . are . recognized for ‘the. future
tax <onsequences-. attributable to.  differences"
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between the financial statement carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax :

bases and operating ‘loss .-and tax. credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply

to taxable income in. the years -in. which those
temporary differences are expected -to. be
recovered or settled. The effect. on- deferred tax
assets .and liabilities of a.change in tax-rates is

recognized in results of operations in. the .period .
that the tax change occurs. Valuation. allowances are '~
established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax

assets to.the amount expected .to be realized...
U

Revenue Recoghition - o

The Company’s busmess messagmg services include’
message delivery services such as- electronic datd

interchange or “EDI,” telex, desktop fax, broadcast“~
and ‘production messaging ‘services; managed e-mail
and groupware hosting services; services that help”

protect corporate e-mail systems such as virus
protection, . spam - controt. and content filtering
services,. and professional messaging- services and
support. The Company derives revenues from
monthly fees and usage-based charges for our
message delivery services; from monthly per-user or

per-message fees for managed e-mail and groupware,
hosting and virus - protection, -spam control ‘ and

content filtering services; from license fees for
desktop fax; and from consulting' fees for our
professional services. Revenue  from e-mail..and
groupware hosting services, virus protection, spam
control and content Flterlng services, message
delivery services and from professional services are
recognized as services are performed. Facsimile

n)

‘The brimaryib"ticrh‘po»ﬁent of siles and marketing

provided. or ‘received; - whichever is more
determinable in the circumstances. For the year
ended -December 31, 2001, barter revenues, which
are a'component of advertising revenue, amounted: -
to $0.6 million and barter expenses, which are a
component of cost of revenues, were approximately .
the:same $0.6 million. R

Other .revenues includes revenues from (i) the sale
of domain names, which are recognized at the time -
when the ownership of :the domain name is
transferred provided that no significant Company
obligation .remains and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable and (i) the licensing of '
domain- names . wherein. revenue is . recognized
ratably over the :license period. To date, such
revenues_have not been. material.

Product Development Costs

(m)"
Product ‘development’ costs consist primarily of
personnel and consultants’ time and expense to
research, conceptualize, and test product. launches

‘and enhancements to each of the Company's

services. Such costs are expensed as incurred.

_Sales and Marketing Costs

4

expenses are Salaries’ and commissions: for sales, ™
marketing, and business development personnel: The *

.Company expenses the cost of. advertising and

promotmg ItS servnces as mcurred

license revenue is recognlzed _over the average . |

estimated customer life of 3 years.

Prior to the sale of the Ati\iel‘tising Network .

Business on ' March 30, 200 (see Note ' 3),
advertising revenues were derived. principally. from
the sale of banner advertisements. Revenue on
banner advertisements was recognized ratably as
the advertisements or respective impressions were

delivered either on a “cost per thousand” or “cost -

per action” basis.. Revenue on upfront placement
fees and promotions was deferred .and recognized
over the term of the corresponding agreement. The

Cornpany also traded  advertisements on its”VWeb
properties-in exchange for advertisements -on the -

Internet sites of other companies as part of the ad
network business. Barter revenues and expenses
were recorded at the fair market value of services

Financial Instruments .and : .

()

'-Concentratlon -of Credit Risk

Fmanual mstruments that potentlally subject the .

Company to sngnlﬂcant concentrations of credit risk .
consist of -cash, cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, notes payable and convertible notes -

- payable. At December ‘31,. 2003- and 2002, the fair

value of
investments, -

cash, - cash  equivalents, restricted .
marketable . securities and " accounts

”receivable " approximated - their financial statement.

[N
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‘rates”
Subordinated Notes payable with a carrying value of -

+carrying amount because of the short-term maturity

of these.instruments. The recorded values of notes
payable and convertible notes payable approximate
their fair values, as interest approximates market .
with the exception of the Convertible .

$1.4 million. However, as these notes are payable in
February 2005, management estimates that their fair
value approximates their carrying value.
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Credit is extended to customers based on the
evaluation of their financial condition and collateral: -

is not required. The Company performs ‘ongoing
credit ‘assessments of its customers and maintains
“an allowance for doubtful accounts. No single

customer: exceeded 10% of either total revenues or -
accounts receivable in 2003, 2002. or 200I..:

Revenues from the Company’s five [largest
customers accounted for an aggregate of 7%, 6%
and 3% of the Company’s total revenues in 2003,
2002 and 200!, respectively. ' ’

(p) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

In 2003 2002 and 2001, the Company had stock

option plans, which. are described more fully in .

Note 13. As allowed by SFAS No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS
No. 148, the Company has retained the
compensation measurement - principles of
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,

_($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Accounting for Stock Issued ‘to Employees, and its
related: interpretations for stock . options. SFAS
No. 148 also requires more prominent and more
frequent disclosures in both interim- and annual
financial statements about the method of accounting
for stock-based compensation and the effect of the
method used on reporting results. The Company .
adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No..[48

- as of December 31, 2002 and continues to apply

the measurement provisions of APB 25. Under APB
Opinion. No. 25, compensation. expense s
recognized based upon the difference, if any, at the

"measurement date between the market value of the

stock and the option exercise price. The
measurement date is the date at which both the
number of options and the exercise price for each
option are known. The following table illustrates the
effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss)
per share if we had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-
based employee compensation.

For the year ended December 31,

: 2003 - 2002 . 2001
Net income (loss): ‘ _
Income (loss) from continuing operations, as reported ' $51,886 $(85,845) $(144,038)
Deduct total stock based employee compensation expense o
determlned under the fair value method for all awards, net of tax (8,394 (9,343) (7,610
Pro forma income (loss) from continuing operatlons 43,492 (95,188) (151,648) .
Loss from discontinued operations (938) L= - {63,027)
Extraordinary gain L= - 782
Proforma net income (loss) $42,554 © $(95,188) $(213,893)
Basic net income (loss) per share: - :
Income (loss) from continuing operations as reported - $ 147 $ (5.13) $ (1526)
Deduct total stock based empldyee compensation expense ' ’ ' '
determined under the fair value method for all awards net of tax $ (0.24) $ (0.56) $ (0.8
Pro forma income (loss) from contlnumg operatlons $ 1.23 $ (5.69) $ (16.07)
Loss from discontinued operatlons $ (0.03) - $ (6.68)
Extraordinary gain - ' $ 008

120§ (5.69)

Proforma basic net income (loss) $ $ (22.66)
Diluted net.income (loss) per share: : :
income (loss) from continuing operations as reported $ .46 $ (5.13) $ (15.26)
Deduct total stock based employee compensation expense iz : A .
determined under the fair value method for all awards, net of tax $ (024 . $ (056) $ (08l)
Pro forma income (loss) from continuing operations T8 122 $ (569 $ (16.07)
Loss from discontinued operations $(0.03) - $ - (668
Extraordinary gain ‘ - - - $ 0.09_ :
Proforma diluted net income (loss) $ 1.9 $ (5.69) $ (22.65)
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The resulting .effect on the. pro forma net income
(loss) disclosed for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 is not likely to be representative
of the effects of the net income (loss) on a pro forma
basis in. future years, because the pro forma: results

include the impact of three, four and five years, .

respectively, of grants and related vesting of option
prices ranging from $0.53 per share to $294.80 per
share. Subsequent years will include additional grants
at the then current-stock prices and vesting. For
purposes of pro-forma disclosure, the estimated fair

value of the options is amortlzed to expense over the _

options’ vesting period. -

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on
the date of grant using the Black Scholes method
option-pricing model with the following assumptions
used for grants madein 2003: dividend yield of zero
(0%) percent, average risk-free rate interest rate of
3.0%, expected life of 5 years and volatility of 135%,

2002: dividend yield of zero (0%) percent, average -

risk-free interest rate of 4.1%, expected life of 5
years and volatility of 136%, 2001: dividend yield of
zero (0%) percent, average risk-free interest rate of
4.4%, expected lifé of 5 years and volatility of ' 15%.

(q)
Per Share

Net income (loss) per share is presented in
accordance with the. .provisions of SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings Per Share”,
Exchange- Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
98. Under SFAS No. 128, basic Earnings per Share
("EPS”) excludes dilution for common stock
equivalents and is computed by dividing.income or

and the Securities and-

Basic and Diluted Net ln_c_bme (Loss)

loss ~available to .common shareholders by the - .

weighted average number. of common

shares . ..
outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects. the -

potential dilution that could occur if securities or

other contracts - to,

issue common stock were -

exercised or converted into common .stock and .

resulted in the issuance of common stock. Diluted

net loss per share is equal to basic loss per share -

since all common stock equivalents are anti-dilutive:
for each of the periods presented. .

Dituted net income per common share for the ‘year
ended December 31, 2003 includes the effect of
employee options to: purchase 251, 527 _shares. of
common, stock.

Diluted net income (loss) per common‘share-for
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and

P

2001, does not include the effects of employee
options to purchase 1,429,516, 2,773,446 and
1,855,781 shares of common stock, respectively, and
798,523, 1,843,982, and 1,843,982 common stock .
warrants, respectively, as their inclusion would be
antidilutive. Similarly, the computation of diluted net
loss per- share for 2002 excludes the effect of
shares issuable upon the conversion of any
outstanding Convertible Notes at December 31,
2002

)

Capitalized ' computer software is recorded in
accordance with the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statement of Position (“SOP”)
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”
and "is depreciated using the straight-line ‘method -
over the estimated useful life’ of the software,
generally 3 yéars. SOP 98-1 provides guidance for
determining whether computer software is internal-
use software and guidance on accounting’ for the
proceeds of. computer software originally developed .
or obtained for_internal use and then subsequently
sold to the public. It also provides guidance on -
capitalization 'of the costs incurred for computer

software developed or obtained. for internal use.

-Computer Software

()

In june 200!, Statement of Financial Accounting.
Standards No. 143,. “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations” (“Statement 143”) was
issued. Statement |43 addresses financial accounting
and reporting. for legal obligations associated with
the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the
associated retirement costs that result from the
acquisition, construction, or development and
normal operation:of a long-lived asset. Upon initial .
recognition- of a liability for an asset retirement .
obligation, Statément 143 requires an increase in the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The
asset. retirement cost is subsequently allocated to
expense using a systematic and rational method
over the asset’s useful life. Statement 143 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The -
adoption of this statement did not have a material

impact. on the . Company’s. financial position or

results of operatlons 5 ’

Recent Accountmg Pronouncements -

in Aprll 2002 St:atement of Financial Accountmgf
Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements - .
No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement .

3
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No.. 13, and Technical Corrections” . (““Statement
145”) was issued. FASB Statement No. 4 required all

gains and losses from the extinguishment of debt to’

be reported as extraordinary items and Statement
No. 64 related to the same matter. Statement 145
requires gains and losses from certain debt

extinguishment to not be reported as extraordinary

items when they meet the definitions of APB 30.
Statement 145 ‘also ‘amends Statement No. 13
requiring sale-leaseback accounting for certain lease
modifications. Statement 145 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after May 15, 2002. The. provisions
relating to sale-leaseback are effective for
transactions after May 15,. 2002. The Company
adopted Statement 145 effective July I, 2002. The
adoption of this Statement resulted in gains and
losses from debt restructuring and extinguishments

of debt. that were .previously recorded as.:
operating .

extraordinary being reclassified as
activities. The following sets forth the impact of the
reclassifications  on

from continuing operations:

For the year:ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Income (loss) from continuing -
operations — pre FAS {45 $51.886
Extraordinary gain reclassified
to Gain on debt restructuring

$(85.845)  $(191.145)

and supplements - - 47,960
Extraordinary loss recfassified )
to operating expenses - - - (853)

Income (loss) from continuing

operations — post FAS 145 . $5),886 .
Income (loss) per share from

continuing operations ~ pre

FAS 145, $ 147 % (513 0§ (20249
Income (loss) per share from -

continuing operations — post

$(85,845)  $(144,038)

FAS 145 % 147 0§ (53§ (15.26)
Change in income (loss) per i e :
share on continuing operations  $ - $ .= $ 498

In July 2002, Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 146, "Accounting for Costs
Associated. with - Exit or Disposal Activities”
(“Statement 146”) was issued. This Statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for
costs associated with exit or disposal activities and

nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue (“EITF”).
94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee -

Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring).” The principal difference between
Statement 146 and EITF 94-3 relates to the timing
of liability recognition. Under Statément 146, a
liability for a cost associated with an exit or
disposal activity. is recognized. when .the. liability is

the :income . (loss) = from.
continuing operations and income (ioss) per share.

incurred. Under EITF 94-3, a liability for an exit cost
was recognized at the date of an “entitys
commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of
Statement {46 are effective for exit or disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002.
The adoption of this statement did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position
or results of operations. '

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting . and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, ‘Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” FIN 45
elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements
for most guarantees, including residual value
guarantees issued in conjunction with operating
lease agreements. It also clarifies that at the time a
company issues a guarantee the company must
recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the
obligation it assumes under that guarantee and must
disclose that .information in its interim and annual
financial statements. The initial recognition and
measurement provisions apply on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements
are effective for financial statements or interim or
annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The
adoption of FIN 45 did not have a significant impact
on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.

In January 2003, the FASB. issued Interpretation
No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities”, and -amended the interpretation
with ‘FIN  46(R) in December 2003. This
interpretation and its- amiendment set forth a
requirémeént for an investor with a majority of the
variable interests in a variable interest entity (“VIE™)
to consolidate the entity and also requires majority
and significant varfable interest investors to provide
certain disclosures. A VIE is an entity in which the -
equity ‘investors do not have a controlling interest,
or the equity investment at risk is insufficient to
finance the entity’s activities without receiving
additional subordinated financial support from the
other parties. The provisions of FIN 46 were
effective immediately for all arrangements entered
into with new VIEs created after fanuary 31, 2003.
The ‘Company has not entered into any

arrangements with VIEs after January 31, 2003. For
arrangements entered into with VIEs created prior
to January 31, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46 have
been delayed to the first interim or annual period
beginning after December 15; 2003. The Company:
has evaluated the impact of adoption of FIN' 46(R)
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for..its ‘arrangements created before January. 31,
2003.The adoption of this standard is not expected
to |mpact the Companys f‘nancml statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No.
“Amendment of SFAS No. 133~ on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149
amends and clarifies -accounting: for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts, and for. hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133. In particular, this

149,

Statement clarifies under what circumstances a -

contract with an initial net investment meets the

characteristic of a derivative. It also clarifies when

a derivative contains a financing component that
warrants special reporting in the statement of cash
flows: SFAS No. 149 is  generally effective for
contracts -entered into ‘or modified after June 30,

2003 and is not expected to have a material impact -

on the Company’s financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standard No. -'150 (“SFAS 150”),
“Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity”, which
establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with

characteristics: of both liabilities and equity. The -

provisions of SFAS 150 are effective immediately for
all instruments entered -into or modified
May 31, 2003, and’ otherwise is “effective at the

after .

beginning of the first interim period beginning after

June 15,72003. The adoption of this standard did not

have ‘an effect on the Company’s financial °
statements. ' .
(t) Foreign Currency.

The functional currencies of the- Company’s foreign .
subsidiaries are-their respective local currencies. The

financial statements are maintained in local
currencies .and, are translated to United States

dollars using period-end rates of exchange for,

assets and liabilities and average rates during the
period for revenues, cost of revenues and expenses.
Translation. gains and losses are included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity (deficit). Gains
and losses from foreign currency transactions are

included in consolidated statements of operatlons '

and were not srgmﬂcant

(u) Certain 2002 amounts have been reclassified in
the consolidated financial statements to
conform to the 2003 presentation.
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(2

GN Comtext

Acquisitions

During July 2001, the Company acquired the assets
of GN Comtext (“GN”) for $I. Additionally, the
Company received a $1.1 million unsecured interest’
free loan from the former parent company of GN,
GN Store Nord A/S and' received approximately
$175,000 for ctransition services which were
recorded as a reimbursement of costs during the
third quarter of 2001 and has collected and
retained a percentage of certain accounts receivable
collected on behalf of GN. This foan was paid in
December 2001. GN offers value-added messaging
services to over- 3,000 customers ranging from
small business to multi-national companies around

" the .world. The excess of fair market value of the

assets- acquired and the liabilities assumed over the
purchase -price resulted in negative goodwill- of
$782,000 which was recognized as an extraordinary
gain during the quarter ended September 30, 2001
in . accordance with the provisions of FASB
Statement No. 141, “Business .Combinations.”

Swift Telecommunlcatlons, inc. And Easylink
Services

On January 31, 2001, the Company .and Swift
Telecommunications, Inc. (“STI”), a New York
corporation, entered into an Agreement and Plan of
Merger (“Merger -Agreement”). On February 23,
2001, the Company completed the acquisition” of
STI. On January 31, 2001, and concurrent with the
execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement,
STI acquired from AT&T Corp. its EasyLink Services
business (“EasyLink Services”). On April 2, 200,
Mail.com changed its name to Easylink Services
Corporation  (formerly -Mail.com, Inc, the
“Company” or “EasyLink”).

STI together with its newly acquired Easylink
Services business is a global provider of transaction
delivery  services such as electronic data
interchange, e-mail, fax and telex. .

At the closing of-the acquisition by STI of the
EasyLink Services business from AT&T, the Company
advanced $14 million to ST in the form of a loan,
the proceeds of which were used to fund part of -
the $15 million cash. portion of the purchase price
to AT&T. Upon the closing of the acquisition of STI,
the: Company assumed a $35 million note issued by
STl to AT&T. The $35 million note was secured by
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the assets of STI, including the Easylink Services
business, and the shares of Easylink Class A
common stock issued to the

former. . sole :
shareholder of STl (who became an officer and.

director of the Ccmpany). The AT&T note was -

payable .in equal monthly installments over four

years, bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum

for the first six months of the note. Thereafter the

rate was to be adjusted every six months equal to -

I% plus the prime rate as listed in the Wall Street
Journal on such date of adjustment. See Note 7 for

a description of the restructuring of this obligation

in 2001 and a

subsequent - amendment and
restatement in 2003. :

Upon the closing of the .acquisition of STI, the

Company paid to the former sole shareholder (who!
became an officer and director of the Company) of -

STI $835,000 in cash and issued an unsecured note
for $9.2 million and 1,876,618 shares of EasyLink
Class A common stock, valued at $30.8 million, as
consideration for the acquisition of STl. The value of
the common stock issued to STI was based on the
average market price of Easylink’s common stock,
as quoted on the Nasdaq national market, for the
two days immediately prior to, the day of, and the
two days immediately after the announcement of
the transaction on February 8, 2001. The $9,188,000
note was payable in four equal semi-annual
installments over two years. See Note 7 for a

description of the subsequent exchange of this -
and -other subsequent .-

Note payable in 200l
transactions in 2003.

The cash portion of the merger consideration and

the reimbursement of payments made by the sole
shareholder of STI. were funded out of EasyLink’s
available cash and from the proceeds received by
the Company on January 8, 2001 from the issuance

of $10.3 miilion of 10% Senior Convertible Notes

due January 8, 2006.

The Company allocated a portion of the purchase
price to the fair market value of the acquired assets
and liabilities assumed of STl and the Easylink
Services business. The excess of the purchase price
over the fair market value of the acquired assets
and liabilities assumed of ST| and the Easylink
Services business was allocated to goodwill

($24 million), assembled  workforce ($3 million), -

technology ($]1 million), trademarks ($16 million)

and customer lists ($11 million). The purchase price -
based upon the final -

that was allocated was
outcome of the valuation and appraisals of the fair

value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities
at the date of acquisition, as well as the
identification and valuation of certain intangible
assets such as customer lists, in-place workforce,
technology and trademarks, etc. The fair value of the
technology, assembled workforce, trademarks,
customer lists- and goodwill was determined by
management using the excess earnings method, a
risk-adjusted cost approach and' the residual
method, respectively. Amortization expense for the
year ended December 31, 2001 was approximately
$7 million.

The consideration paid by Easylink was determined
as a result of negotiations between EasyLink and STI. .

During fanuary 2001, STI purchased the real time
fax business from Xpedite Systems, Inc. located in
Singapore ' and -Malaysia (these two subsidiaries
conduct business under the name “Xtreme”) for
approximately- $500,000 in cash.

In connection with the acquisition of STI, the
Company. entered into a conditional commitment to
acquire Telecom International, Inc. (“TI”), which
immediately prior to the acquisition of ST was an .

affiliate of the former sole shareholder of STI. The

purchase price for Tll was originally negotiated at -
$117,646 in cash, a promissory note in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately
$1,294,000 and 267,059 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock. In order to facilitate the
Company’s -proposed debt restructuring and to .
reduce the Company’s debt obligations and cash .
commitments, the former sole shareholder of STI
and the Company agreed to modify the Company’s
commitments in respect of TIl. In fieu of acquiring
TIl, the Company purchased certain assets owned
by TI and- assumed certain liabilities. As
consideration, the Company issued 300,000 shares
of Class A common stock valued at $1.9 million as
the purchase price. As a result of this transaction,
the Company recorded a loss on the
extinguishment of this commitment of $2.4 million.

As part of the transaction-with STI, the Company
also entered into a conditional commitment to
acquire the 25% -minority interests in two STI
subsidiaries for $47,059 in cash, promissory notes in
the  aggregate .principal amount of approximately

$517,647 and 106,826 shares of Class A common. .

stock. This transaction is subject to certain
conditions, including satisfactory” completion of due
diligence, receipt of regulatory approvals and other
customary conditions.
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(3) :Sale of Businesses

On September 20, 2002, the- Company sold its
customer contracts related to its email hosting
service (“NIMS”) line to Call Sciences, Inc.” Call
Sciences paid $300,000 in cash upon closing In
connection'with the sale, the parties -entered into a
transition - services agreement whereby

‘the.

Company would receive payments for' services -
rendered during the 2 month-period following the -

close. As a ‘result of the sale, the Company

transferred the customer contracts and recorded a-

gain on the sale of NIMS ‘of $300,000. In
October 2002, the Company sold -for $126,000 a
software ‘and consulting ‘business “in- England- that
was - previously acquired

in the -GN Context"

acquisition. The full purchase price was recorded as

a gain as the -net book: value of assets transférred
was zero. ‘

its
“for

sold
Inc.-

, "the * Company’
to Net2Phorie,

On March 30, 200!
advertising network

$3 ‘million in cash. The Company received an

additional $500,000 in April 2001 based upon the
achievement of certain milestones.
with the sale, the parties entered into a hosting
agreement whereby the Company 'would receive
payments for hosting the ‘consumer mailboxes for a

minimum of one year, As a result ‘of the sale, the' ‘

In connection .

Company transferred net assets, including certain’ -

domain names and partner agreements, and

liabilities related to the advertising network to

Net2Phone, and recorded a loss on the sale ‘of the
advertising network of $1.8 million during the first
quarter of 2001. During  the' second quarter of

2001, the Company completed the migration of the .
hosting of these consumer mailboxes to a third .
was’

party provider. The hostlng agreement
terminated as of September 30, 2001. ~
' Balance Sheet Compo;lents

)

Property and. eqdipmeht,‘ net

in thousands:

of accumulated |
depreciation and amortization, are stated at cost or
allocated fair value and are summartzed as follows, B
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December 31,

. 2003 . 2002
Computer equipment and software $40,878 $38,882
Furniture and fixtures {,589 1,081
Web development 181 181"
Leasehold improvei—nerits 2,187 814 -
Subtotal : 44,835 40,958 -
Less accumulated deprecnauon and : ’ :
amortization 34,194 26,125
Property and equipment, net $10641 - $14833

Domam assets held for sale consist of the following,
in thousands

December 31,

2003 2002
Domain names $2,424 $2,424
Less accumulated amortization 2,210 2,210
Domain assets, net

$ 214 $ 214

Accrued expenses consnst of the following, in .

thousands:
December 31,
N _2003 - 2002

Carrier charges $ 5,507 $ 7,020 .
Payroll and .related costs 2,532 3,072
Sales/Use/VAT taxes payable 1,792 1,902
Professional services, consulting fees and . :
sales agents’ commissions 1,295 1,649

- Interest 233 2,038
Software and hardware mamtenance 168 . 551
Other 2,809 4,621
Total ‘$14,336 $20,853
(5) . Investments
The Company 'assesses  the need to record .

impairment losses on investments and records.such
losses when the impairment of an investment is
determined to be other-than-temporary.

On July 25 2000, EasyLlnk entered. into a strategic
reiatlonshnp with BulletN.net, Inc. The: investment
has been accounted for under the cost method of
accounting, as EasyLink owns less than 20% of the
outstanding stock of BulletN.net. As part of this.
agreement BulletN.net issued 666,667 shares of .its
common stock and a warrant to purchase up to an_
additional 666,667 shares at $3.75 per share to
EasyLink in exchange for 36,443 shares of EasyLink
Class A common stock valued at approximately
$3.1 million. The Company concluded that the
carrying value of this cost-based investment was
permanently impaired based on the inability to,
achieve business plan objectives and milestones and .
the fair value of the investment relative to its
carrying value. During 2002 and 2001, the Company
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recorded “impairment charges of $0.5 million and
$26 million, respectively, due to other-than-
temporary declines.in the value of this investment.
Such amounts are included in impairment of
investments within other income (expense) in the
statement of operations. On March 1, 2001,

~ consideration of the exchange and ‘cancellation of
the 666,667 warrants and the waiver of certain anti-
dilution -

common stock at $1 per share. .

During 1999, the Company acquired an equity _‘

interest in 3Cube, Inc. (“3Cube”), which was
accounted for. under the cost method. During the

first quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an..

rights, the Company received a new.:
warrant to purchase 266,667 shares of BuIIetN net

impariment charge related to its investment in -

3Cube of $59,000 reducing the ¢arrying value to

$2 million, representing the value the Company
received in August 2001 upon the Ilqundatlon of its.

investment,

On April 17, 2000, in exchange for $500,000 in

cash, the Company acquired certain source code
“contracts |

technologies, trademarks and related

.the Company issued an additional 9,259 ‘shares of

its Class A common stock valued at approximately
$590,000. to Bantu in accordance with a true-up
provision :in the .Common. Stock - Purchase
Agreement. In.September 2000, the Company issued -
an additional 44,444 shares. of .its Class A common .
stock valued . at - approximately $2.9 million as
payment for the achievement of a. milestone
indicated above. -In -January . 2001, the Company
issued an.additional 22,222 shares of its Class A
common_stock valued at approximately $285,000 as .
payment for the achieved milestone indicated above. .
The Company.accounts for this investment under
the cost method: During 2002 and 200l,
management made assessments of the carrying. .
value of its: investment, based upon incremental
investments made by third parties, and -determined .

~ that the carrying value of this cost-based investment

relating to the InTandem collaboration product -

(“InTandem”) from IntraACTIVE, Inc,, a-Delaware.

corporation (now named Bantuy, Inc., “Bantu”). On

was permanently impaired as it was in excess of its
estimated fair value. Accordingly, EasylLink wrote
down the value of its investment in Bantu by
$1.0 million and $7.3 -million in 2002 and 200l,

respectively, as. it determined that the decline in its
va|ue was_other-than-temporary. '

On June 30 2000 the Company received 35, 7l4v‘ .
shares .of common stock of Onview.com valued at

‘ $l2_5 000 as payment. for the C,ompanys advertising -

the "same date, the Company also paid Bantu an
upfront fee of $500,000 for- further development -

and-support of the InTandem product. On the same-
date, pursuant to. a Common Stock Purchase
of
common stock of Bantu representing approximately

Agreement, the Company acquired -shares
4.6% of Bantu’s outstanding capital stock in
exchange for-$1 million-in cash and 46,296 shares
of ~its - Class’" A" ‘common " stock, valued
approximatély $3.6° million. - Pursuant to
Common Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company

the"

also agreed to invest up to an additional $8 million -

in the form of shares of its Class A common stock
. in Bantu in threé separaté increments of $4 million,

$2:million and $2 million, respectively, based upon °

the achievement ‘of certain milestones in exchange -

for additional shares of ‘Bantu common” stock
representing 3.7%, 1:85% and '1:85%, respectively, of
the outstanding common stock of Bantu as of
April- 17, 2000. The number of shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock issuable at each

closing will be: based on the ‘greater of '$90 per -

share and the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s Class A common stock over the five

trading days prior to such closing date: In July: 2000,
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services. During the second ‘quarter of 2001, the
Company ‘determined that the value of this
investment’ “had, become ‘permanently impaired and
recorded an |mpa|rment charge of $125,000.

On ' July 25 12000, the’ Company issued I0222

shares of its’ Class "A common. stock valued at
approxnmately $872,000 as an investment in
Madison  Avenue - Technology Group, ~ Inc.

(CheetahMail). The investment has been. accounted'
for under the cost method of accounting as the
Company owns less than 20% of the outstanding
stock of CheetahMail. In consideration thereof, the _
Company received 750,000 shares of Series B
convertible preferred stock and a warrant to
purchase 75,000 shares of ‘common’ stock of -
CheetahMail. The Company transferred-these shares
of preferred ‘stock “and warrants “to Net2Phone’
pursuant to the sale of the Company’s Advertising
Network.

As of December 31, 2002, all of the Company’s
investments were written down to minimal amounts
due to other than temporary declines in the value
of its investments.
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(6) Goodwill and Intangible Assets *

In June 2001, the Fmancual Accounting . Standards ‘

Board issued Statement. of Financial Accounting
Standards No. {41, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS

141"), and No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible’
Assets” (“SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 Fequires that the
purchase method of -accounting be used for.all

business combinations initiated or consummated-

after June 30, 2001. Statement 141 also specifies -
criteria intangible assets ‘acquired in.a purchase

method business combination must meet to be.

recognized and reported apart from goodwill, noting’

that ‘any purchase .pricé allocable to ah ‘assembled

workforce may not be accounted for .separately. -

- SFAS
assets with indefinite useful lives no longer -be

amortized, but instead tested for tmpa|rment ‘at -

42 requires thdt goodwill " and - intangible

least annually in accordance with ‘the “provisions of

Statement [42. Statement [42 also requires that

intangible. assets with finite useful lives bé amortized
over their respective estimated useful lives to their
estimated residual- values, and- revnewed for
impairment in accordance with SFAS 'No.,.

D!sposed Of” (“SFAS 1447).

The Company | adopted, the provisions of SFAS I4I ,
immédiately and SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. -
" Furthermore, any goodwill and any intangible assec.

determined to-have an indefinite useful life that are
acquired in a purchase business combination

completed after june 30, 2001 were not amortized, -
and continued to be “evaluated for  impairment i’

142”
2001. .

accordance with the appropriate” pre-SFAS”
accounting literature “untit  December’ 31,
Goodwill and intangible assets acqwred in busmess

combinations completed before July 1, 2001 were

amortized prior to the ‘adoption of SFAS 142.-

a4,
“Accounting for the Impairment -or Dlsposal of .
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be'

© SFAS 141 required, 'upe'n adoption of SFAS 142, that .-

the Company evaluate -its existing intangible assets °

and- goodwill that were acquired in a prlor purchase

business “combination,.and" to..make.any :necessary -
reclassifications in order to conform with the new
criteria in SFAS 141 . for recognition apart. from..

goodwill. Upon adoption of SFAS 142, the Company
was required to reassess. the useful lives and
residual values of all lntanglble assets acqunred in

“As of January T,

identified as having an indefinite useful life; the
Company was required to' test the intangible. asset
for impairment.in accordance with the provisions of-".

.SFAS 142 within the first interim period. Any. .

impairment loss was measured as of the date of
adoption and recognized as the cumulative. effect of
a change in. accounting prmcuple in the first interim -

period of 2002

In connection with . the transitional goodwill .
impairment  evaluation, SFAS 142 required the .
Company to perform an assessment of whether-
there was an indication that goodwill was impaired .
as of.the date of adoption. To accomplish this. the
Company- identified its  reporting units -and

determined -the carrying value of each reporting .
unit by assigning the: assets and liabilities, including -
the .existing goodwill and.intangible assets, to those
reporting units as of the date of adoption. To, the,
extent a. reporting.unit’s. carrying amount exceeds
its fair value, an indication existed-that the reporting:
unit's goodwill may be .impaired and. the Company
must perform the second step .of the transitional
impairment test. In the second step, the Company.
must compare the implied fair value of the
reporting unit’s goodwill, determined by allocating
the reporting -unit’s fair. value to all of it assets-
(recognized. and unrecognized) and labilities in .a
manner similar- to a purchase price allocation, in

accordance with SFAS 141,-to its carrying amount, ..
both of which were. measured. as .of the date of
adoption. This .second step .was required to -be
completed as soon as possible, but-no later than the - -

"end of the year of adoption. Any transitional

impairment loss would have been:recognized as the
cumulative effect.of a change in accounting principle;.
in the Company's statement: of operations.

2002, the date of. adoptlon the’
Company had unamortized goodwill . in the amount.
of $68.8 million, which was subject to the transition .
provisions of SFAS 42 Amortization expense '
related to goodwill_ of. continuing operations was

 $40.4 million for the year ended December 31,

2001, During the quarter ended June 30, 2002, the -
Company completed its. assessment with the’
assistance . of | |ndependent appraiser and
determined that there was no impairment as of
January I, 2002. During the quarter ended

+ December 31, 2002, the Company completed a new

purchase business combmatlons, and ~ make any. .
necessary amortization perlod -adjustments by the |

end of the first interim perlod after adoption. In
addition, to the extent an intangible asset was
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assessment with the assistance of an independent
appraiser and determined that there was an
impairment. Accordingly, a fair value analysis was
performed on the Company’s goodwill, intangible
assets and other long lived assets which resulted in



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

an aggregate ‘impairment -charge of $78.8 million;
allocated as - follows:

and $62.6 million goodwill.

During 2002, economic and market conditions led
to forecasts with lower growth:rates' and  a
significantly lower market value of the Company.
The methodology used to determine the business

enterprise of the Company was the -income’

approach, a discounted cash flow valuation method.
" The discount rate was determined by using 2
weighted average cost of capital analysis which was
developed using a capital structure ‘which reflects
the representative historical mix of debt and equity
of & group of guideliné’ companies in this business.
Assumptions for normal working capital levels and
taxes were also incorporated in the analysis. The

value’ of the tradename and developed technology.
was based on the relief-from-royalty method. This- -

determines the value by quantifying the cost savings
a company enjoys by owning, as opposed to
licensing, the intangible asset. The value of the

Company’s customer base: was also determined -

through an income approach.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2003, the
Company completed its 2003 assessment of its

goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets with

the’ -assistance. of an independent appraisér and
determined that there was no further impairment
of these assets. The evaluation -employed the same
methodology as that used in the 2002 evaluation.

In 2001, in accordance with the Company’s policy of

continually evaluating the carrying value of its:long-
lived assets, -the Company determined that the
carrying values of certain of its assets required
adjustments.” Accordingly, impairment charges of
$60.0 million related to goodwill associated. with
the Company's 2000 acquisition of NetMoves

Corporation and $2.2 million related ‘to other

acquisitions in 2000 and 1999 were recorded.
The followiﬁg unaudited proforma

occurred at the beginning of all periods _presenied:

$7.5 million tradename,
$7.6 million customer base, $1.1 million technology,

disclosure

presents the adoption of Statement 142 as if it had’ .
. Weighted dverage difuted

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 3i,
2003 2002 2001 -

Income’ (loss) from continuing
operations : . $51,886
Add- back: Goodwill, .
amortization attributable to

$(85,845)  $(144,038)

continuing operations ~ ] - 40,376
Adjusted income (loss) from : v
continuing operations 51,886 - (85845)..  (103,662)
Loss from discontinued ' o
operations . {939) ~ . (63.027)
Add back: Goodwill
amortization attributable to .
discontinued operations - - 3,851
Adjusted loss. from .
discontinued operations (938) - (59.176)
Extraordinary gain L= - 782
Adjusted net_income- (loss) $50,948 $(85,845)  $(162,056)
Basic net income (loss)
per share:
Income {loss) from contmumg )
operations $ 147 - 8 (513 § (15.26)

- Goodwill amortization from o
continuing operations . - - - 4.28
Adjusted income (loss) from,
continuing operations $ 147 $ (513) § (1098
Loss from d|scontmued .
operations § (0.03) - {6.68)
Goodwill amortization from . s
discontinued. operations . —~ = 0.41 .
Adjusted loss from : - .
discontinued operations $ (0.03) = 6.27)
Extraordinary gain - - 0.08
Adjusted net income (loss} $ 144 % (513 % (71D
Weighted average basic shares : ' o
outstandmg . 35,402 16,733 9,442 - -
Diluted net inpgmé (loss) . '
per share:
Incomé (loss) from coritinuing s ’ s
operations % (46 .8 (5.13). 8% (152¢)
Goodwill amortization from .
continuing operations - - - 428

Adjusted income (Joss) from

continuing operations: § 146 $ (5.13) $ (i09g

Loss from discontinued °

operatians $ (0.03) - §$ .(668)
Goodwill amertization from ’ o
discontinued operations- - - 0.4(
Adjusted loss from C

discontinued operations $ (0.03) - $ (627
Extraordinary gain L - = 0.08

Adjusted net income (loss)

$ 143 % (513§ (1717
shares outstanding T 35654 . 16733 9,442

in connection with the adoption of SFAS 142 on
January |, 2002, the ‘Company reclassified

$3.6 million innet book value associated with
assembled workforce to- goodwill. In addition, during
the first quarter of 2002, goodwill was reduced by
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$0.3 million as a result of a final reconciliation
related to the STI acquisition (See Note 2).

Although SFAS 142 requires disclosure of these
amounts to reflect the impact of adoption on the
Company’s  results for the  year
December 31, 2001, had goodwill .
amortized and been added back, the effect would

~ended’
not. been -

have resulted in additional impairment charges bemg‘-.

recorded

Included in the Company’s balance sheet as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are the following (|n-

thousands)
As of December 31, 2003
Accumulated
Gross Cost. Amortization Net
Goodwill $152,659 $(146,393)  $6,266 -
. Trademarks $ 16000 - § (10400)  $5600
Intangibles with finite fives: ‘
Technology $ 16,550 $ (12,445) - $4,105
Customer lists 11,000 9,771) 1,229
Software development and I [
licenses 4,580 - (3,885) 695
$ 32,130, .. .. $ (26,101)  $6,029

As of December 31, 20.02

Accumulated

Gross Cost Amortization Net

Goodwill $152,659 $(146,393)  $6,266
Trademarks 16,000 $ (10,400)  $5,600
Intangibles with finite lives: ) '
Technology $ 16,550 $ (10.550)  $6,000
Customer lists 11,000 (9.600) 1,400
Software development and .
licenses 4,580 _(3032) 1,548

$ 32,130 $ (23,182) 38,948

The Company’s estimated amortization expense is

$2.6 million, $2.2 million, $0.5 million, $0.2 million .

and $0.2 million in 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and ..

2008, respectively. In accordance with Statement
142, the Company reassessed the useful lives:of all

other intangible assets. There were no changes-to

such lives and there are no expected residual values

associated with -these intangible. assets. Customer °

lists are being amortized on a straight-line basis
over ten years. = Technology ~and = software
development ‘and licenses are being amortized on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
from two to five years.

™

7% Convertible Subordinated Notes

Notes Payable

On January 26, 2000,. the Company- issued $100.

million of 7% Convertible Subordinated Notes (“the

39

Notes™). with interest payable on February | and
August | of each year. The Notes are convertible by
holders into shares of EasylLink Ciass A common
stock at a conversion price of $189.50 per share
(subject to adjustment .in certain events). As of
December 31, 2003, the balance of the Notes
outstanding ‘was $!.4 million as a result of the
exchange transactions and - debt ' restructurings
described below. o :

Senior Convertible Notes issued in Exchange
for 7% Convertible Subordinated Notes

On February I, 2001, the Company entered into a
note exchange agreement (the “Note Exchange
Agreement”). Under the terms of the agreement,
EasyLink issued $1 1,694,000 principal amount of a
new series of 10% Senior Convertible Notes due
January 8, 2006 in exchange for the cancellation "of
$38,980,000 principal amount of its 7% Convertible
Subordinated Notes due February {, 2005. The new
notes were convertible at any time at the option of
the holder into Class A common stock at an initial
conversion price equal to $13.00 per share, subject
to anti-dilution adjustments.

On February 8, 2001, the Company entered into an
additional note exchange agreement. Under the
terms of the agreement, EasylLink issued $4,665,000
principal amount of a new series of 10% Senior
Convertible Notes due January 8, 2006 in exchange
for the cancellation of $15,550,000 principal amount
of its 7% Convertible Subordinated Notes due
February [, 2005. The new notes were convertible
at any time at the option of the holder into Class -
A common stock at an initial conversion price equal
to $17.50 per share, subject to anti-dilution
adjustments.

On February (4, 200!, the Company entered into
an additional note exchange agreement. Under the
terms of the agreement, EasylLink issued $7,481,250
principal amount of a new series of 10% Senior
Convertible Notes due January 8, 2006 in exchange
for the cancellation of $21,375,000 principal amount
of its' 7% Convertible Subordinated Notes due
February |, 2005 (the *“‘Subordinated Notes”).
Pursuant to this note exchange agreement, on or
about May 23, 2001, $2,531,250 in principal amount
of these Senior Convertible Notes were exchanged
for 142,07] shares of Ciass A common stock (the
“Exchange  Shares”). The - new notes were
convertible- at any time at the ‘option of the holder
into Class A common stock at an initial conversion
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price equal to $15.00 per share, subject to anti-
dilution adjustments. -

The Senior Convertible Notes .issuable under the
February 1, February 8 and February 14 note -
exchange agreements (the “Exchange Notes™) were -

unsecured, joint and several.obligations of Easylink
and its subsidiary- Easylink Services USA, Inc
(collectively, the “Companies”). ,

The Exchange Notes accrued interest, payable semi- -

annually, at the rate of 10% per annum. One half of
each interest payment was payable in cash and one
half was payable in shares of Easylink Class A
common stock, par value $.01 per share (“Class A
common stock”), until 18 months after the closing
date of the financing. Thereafter, one half of each
interest payment was payable in shares of Class A
common stock at the option of the Companies. For
purposes of determining the number of shares
issuable upon payment of interest in shares of Class

A common stock, such shares were deemed to have

a value equal to the applicable conversion price at
the time of payment.

The above exchange transactions were accounted
for in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 15 (“FASB No.i5"),
“Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled

Debt Restructurings”” As a result of these
exchanges, the Company recorded a $40.4 million

gain on debt restructuring and settlements during
the first quarter of 200].

Because the total future cash payménts specified by

the new terms of the Exchange Notes, including
both payments designated as interest and those

designated  as face amount, were less than the -

carrying amount of the Notes, the Company was
required to reduce the carrying amount of the
Notes, to an amount equal to the total future cash
payments specified by the new terms and
recognized a gain on exchange of payables equal to

the amount of the reduction, less the applicable -
deferred financing costs associated with the original .-
$100 million 7% Convertible Subordinated Notes of

$2.2 million and new- financing costs of $40,000.

In periods subsequent to the exchange transactions,

all payments under the terms of the Exchange -

Notes are accounted for as reductions of the
carrying amount of the Exchange Notes, and no
interest expense is recognized on the Exchange
Notes for any périod between the exchange dates
and maturity dates of the Exchange Notes.

As of December 3l, 2003, none of the Exchange.
Notes was outstanding as a result of the debt
restructuring and settlement transactions described
below under “Restructuring and Settlements of
Certain Debt and Lease Obligations.”

Other Senior Convertible Notes

On January 8, 200|. the Company issued
$10  million (subsequently  increased to
$10.26 million) of 10% Senior Convertible Notes
due January 8, 2006 to an investor group. On
March 19, 2001, the Company completed the
issuance of $3.9 million principal amount of 10%
Senior Convertible. Notes due January 8, 2006
(together with the notes issued pursuant to the
January 8, 2001 agreement, (the “Notes") to certain
private investors. The Notes were unsecured, joint
and several obligations of EasyLink and its subsidiary
BasylLink’ Services USA, Inc. (collectively, the
“Companies™).

The Notes accrued interest, payable semi-annually,
at the rate of 10% per annum. One half of each
interest payment was payable in cash and one half.
was payable in shares of EasylLink Class A common
stock (“Class A common stock”), until 18 months
after the closing date of the financing. Thereafter,
one half of each interest payment was payable in
shares of Class A common stock at the option of
the Companies. For purposes of determining the
number of shares issuable upon payment of interest
in shares of Class A common stock, such shares
were deemed to have a value equal to the
applicable conversion price at the time of payment.

Each of the Notes was convertible at any time at

“the option of the holder into Class A common

stock at an initial conversion price equal to $10.00
per share, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. ‘

The net proceeds ,of the issuance of the
$10.26 million principal amount of Notes issued
pursuant to the January 8, 200! agreement were
used to fund a portion of the purchase price
payable by Swift Telecommunications, Inc. for the
acquisition of the AT&T Easylink Services business
and for working capital and other general corporate
purposes.

in connection with the issuance of the Notes, the
Company granted to the investor group' the right to
designate one director to the Board of Directors
for so long as the investor group and certain other
" parties associated with it own a specified number of
shares of .Class A common stock on-a fully diluted -
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basis (the “Designation Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Designation Agreement, the Board of Directors
appointed a director to the Board of Easylink
effective upon the closung of the ﬁnancmg

During the second ‘quarter of 200l, the Company
issued an aggregate of $550,000,. 10% Senior
Convertible Notes Due January 8, 2006 to certain
vendors in exchange for settlement of . its
obligations to those vendors. Terms of the notes
were similar to those notes. that were issued on
January 8, 2001. .

As of December 31,
outstanding as a result of the debt restructuring and
settlement transactions described below under
“Restructuring and Settlements of Certaln Debt and
Lease Obligations.” : :

Notes issued in STI/EasyLink Acquisition

In connection with the acquisition of STI, the
Company assumed a $35 millioh note payable to
AT&T from STl and iissued a $9.2 million unsecured
note to the former shareholder of STI as partial
payment (see Note 2 for additional information).
AT&T subsequeritly entered into an agreement with
the Company to’ restructure the note.. On

November 27, 2001, the note was converted ‘into-

a package of securities consisting of a promissory
note in the principal amount of $10 million,

2003, none of the Notes was™ -

I million shares of Class A common stock and

warrants to purchase | million shares of Class A
common stock at an exercise. price of $6.10 per
share, subject to adjustment. The $10 million note

is secured by the same security interests that .

secured the original $35 million note. in. the. first

quarter of 2003, AT&T entered into an agreement

to sell the $10 million note and 1,423,980 shares of

outstanding EasyLink Class A common. stock held by -

AT&T to PTEK Holdings, Inc (“PTEK"), one: of the -

Company’s principal competitors. Following the
announcement of the agreement, the Company

commenced legal proceedings to enjoin AT&T from -

selling the- note and to assert claims for damages

against AT&T and PTEK. On October 20, 2003 the

legal dispute was settled. Under the settlement, the |

Company agreed to consent to the transfer of the
shares and the note' from AT&T to PTEK in
exchange for ‘a revised amortization schedule on
the note and return of the warrant to the Company
for cancellation, Under the terms of the Amended
and Restated Promissory Note payable to PTEK,
the Company will repay the $10,975,082 remaining
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. purchased

outstanding balance of principal of and interest on
the. Note as of September |, 2003 and all future
accrued interest by making " equal quarterly

installment payments of. principal and interest in the .

amount of $800,000 and a final payment of
approximately $5. 75 m|II|on on the. June 1, 2006
maturity date.

In NoVember 2001, the $9.2 million note issued to
the former .sole shareholder of STl was exchanged
for .a new note in the principal amount of
$2.7 million, 268,296 shares of the Company’s Class
A common stock and warrants to purchase 268,296
shares of stock. In. May.2003, the $2.7 million note

was further exchanged for a new note in principal -
12 monthly -

amount of $284,000 payable in
installments with interest.

Restructuring and Settlements of Certain
Debt and Lease Obligations

During the third quarter of 2001, pending the
completion of the subsequent restructuring, ‘the
Company issued $16.3 million of interim notes,
bearing interest at a rate of 12% per annum, in

exchange for present and future lease obligations in
million, These notes were
cancelled ‘upon completion of the fourth quarter
2001 “debt restructuring. This interim transaction
resulted in a loss of $1.1 m|lllon in accordance with

the amount of $15.1

SFAS No. 15.

On November 27, 2001, the Company completed
the restructuring of approximately $63 million of
debt and lease obligations and a related financing in
the amount of approximately $10 million.

Under the terms of the debt restructurlng, the
Company exchanged an aggregate of approximately
$63 million of debt and equipment lease obligations
for an aggregate of approximately $20 million of

restructure notes and obligations due in installments.

commencing June . 2003 through June 2006,
1.97 million shares of Class A Common Stock and
warrants to purchase 1.8 million shares of Class A
Common Stock. In addition, the Company
certain leased equipment for an
aggregate purchase price of $3.5 million.

The restructure notes accrued interest at a rate of

2% per annum and were scheduled to mature five:

years from the date of the debt restructuring. The
Company was ,able to elect to -defer payment of
accrued interest on a portion of the restructure
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notes until various dates commencing June 2003
and may elect to pay accrued interest on: other
restructure notes in shares of Class A common
stock having a market value at the time of payment
equal to  120% of the interest payment due.
$9.1 million in principal amount of the restructure
notes are convertible, at the option of the holder,
into shares of Class A Common Stock of the
Company at a conversion price of $10.00 per share,
subject to adjustment in certain -events. The

Company was not -required to make scheduled .
principal payments on any of the notes until June..

2003. All of the notes were callable at.any time for

cash. The warrants allowed the holders to purchase

shares- of Class A Common Stock.of the Company

at an exercise price equal to $6.10 per share. The

number of shares issuable upon exercise and the
exercise price of the warrants were subject to

adjustment in certain events. The warrants were

exercisable for ten years after the date of the grant.

The restructure notes issued to AT&T Corp. and
the former shareholder of STI have been accounted
for in accordance with Financial ~Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 15, “Accounting by
Debtors and  Creditors for
Restructurings.” Because the total future cash or

share payments specified by the terms of these
payments .

restructure notes, * including  both
designated as ‘interest’ and those designated as

principal, are less than the carrying amount of these °

restructure notes, the Company was required to

Troubled Debt,

reduce the carrying amount of the original notes .

exchanged for the restructure notes issued to AT&T
and such former STI| shareholder to an amount

equal to the total future cash payments specified by

the new terms. In future periods, all payments under
the terms of the restructure notes for which future
interest was included in the carrying amounts of

such notes shall be accounted for as reductions of -

such carrying amounts, and no interest expense
shall be recognized on such notes for any period
between the respective dates of commencement of
the accrual of interest on such ‘notes and the
maturity dates of such notes.

The Company recognized a gain on the: debt -

restructuring in the amount of $8.6 million. This gain
was calculated based on the amount of the total
reduction in carrying values of the original
restructure obligations as compared to the carrying

values of the restructure notes minus the amount

of the contingent share issuance obligation of

$1.1 million recorded by the Company due to the

assumed payment of interest on a portion of the"
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restructure notes in shares of Classs A common
stock as' described above. \

$5.9 million of the financing was represented by cash
proceeds from the sale of 1,468,750 shares of Class
A common stock. Approximately $1.3 million of this
financing was‘represented by the investment of cash
in exchange for senior convertible notes that were
convertible into approximately 520,000 shares of
Class A common stock, subject to adjustment in
certain events. These notes are convertible at $2.50
per share. The beneficial conversion feature of ‘$1.1
million was being amortized over a period of 5 years.
Approximately $3.0 million of this financing was
represented by the exchange of $1.4 million of cash |
equipment purchase obligations held by lessors and
$1.6 million of other cash obligations held by AT&T
for an aggregate of 820,000 shares of Class A
common stock.

During 2002, the Company entered into two
separate transactions repurchasing $5.0 million in
10% Senior Convertible Notes and a 12% Senior
Restructure Note and a restructure balloon liability
in the amount of $0.5 million for. a total of
$0.6 million in cash and 5415 shares in Class A
common stock, valued at approximately $6,000. The
Company .recorded a $6.6 million in gains on the.
transactions including the reversal of $1.7 million of
capitalized interest related to the repurchased debt.

During 2003, the Company entered into a series of
transactions with debt holders to eliminate a total

“of $63.0 million of indebtedness in exchange for

cash payments of $3.I million and, the issuance of
23.9 million shares of Class A common stock valued
at $13.6 million. The eliminated debt included ..
$22.7 ‘million of 7% Convertible Subordinated .
Notes, due February 2005, $31.I million of 10%
Senior  Convertible Notes, due January 2006, a -
$2.7 million note payable to the former shareholder
of STI (who is an officer and director of the
Company), $6.0 million of Restructure notes and
$0.5 million in other indebtedness. The Company
also entered into agreements ' to- repay an
outstanding note in~ the principal amount of
$115,000 and accrued interest obligations in the .
aggregate amount of $959,000 over the next three.
years, which accrued interest includes $284,000 due
to George Abi Zeid, a director and officer of the.
Company and the former sole shareholder of STI.
In addition, after eliminating $6.5 milion of -
previously capitalized ..interest, $2.7 million of.
accrued interest, and $0.3 million of debt issuance
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costs on the eliminated notes, these transactions
resulted in a gain of $54.1 niillion or $1.52 per
share on a basic .and diluted basis." Also, the

transactions relating to the previous $115,000 note. .

and $959,000- of accrued ' interest. have been:
accounted for |n accordance W|th SFAS 15.

Notes payable include the followmg, in thousands

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Capitalized ™ Capitalized

. Interest  Principal Interest: Principal .
2000 7% Convertible. :
Subordinated Notes due } . B
February 2005 $ - $ 1425  § - $24,095 -
2001 10% Senior Convertible B PR
Notes due January 2006 -, - 5,528 31,059
2001 12% restructure note: as ' ’ v
amended and restated effective X s .
September 2003 1,884 10,504 5,160 10,000
2001 "12% note payable to ) : :
former shareholder of STI 13
quarterly paymenu begmnmg . .
June 2003 .3 ns*" 997 2,683
2001 12% Restructure notes 13 |
quarterly payments beginning

" June 2003 109 1,025 - - . 6132
2001 Restructuring balloon . : .
payments due October 2004 - 396 - 795
Other — o~ = 786 -
Total notes payable and
capitalized interest 1,996 13,468 11,685 75,550
Less current portion 1,040 2,957 4,283 4,152
Non current portion $ 956 $10.511 $ 7402 . $71,398

(8

The following are the components of revenues,. in-
thousands:

Revenues

For the year ended December 31,

2003 2002 . 2001
Business messaging $100,872 $113,874 $121,716
Advertising ) o= - 1,616
Other " 475 480 597
Total revenues $101,347 $123,929

$114,354

Other revenues consist’ of revenues 'generated -
principally from the sale or lease of domain names. -

&)

In March 2000 the Company formed World. com,
Inc. in order to develop-the Company’s portfolio of-

Dlscontmued Operatlons ’ L

domain names into independent web properties'and .

subsequently acquired or formed its subsidiaries
Asia.com, Inc. and India.com, Inc., in

World.com was . the: majority - owner.
November 2, 2000, the Company announced its
intention to sell all assets not related- to its core
outsourced messaging business including ‘Asia.com,

which
On -
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Inc., India.com, Inc. ‘'and its portfolio of domain
names. Accordingly, World.com has been reflected as
a discontinued operation. -Revenues, costs and
expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flows of
World.com have been excluded from the respective
captions in the consolidated statement of
operations, consolidated balance sheets and
consolidated statements of cash flows and have
been ~ reported as “Loss from discontinued
operations,” “Net liabilities of  discontinued
operations,” and “Net cash used in dlscontmued
operations,” for all' periods ‘presented. -

During 2001, the Company .recognized a loss of
$63 million on discontinued - operations. This loss-
included a write-down of $56.4 million of assets,
primarily goodwill, to net realizable value, operating
losses of $4.5 million, net of a gain of $8.3 million,
severance and related benefits of $1.3 million, and
other related cost and expenses including the
closure of facilities of $0.8 million.

Summarized financial information (In thousands) for

" the discontinued operation is as follows:

Statements of Operations Data
Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Revenues $ - $- $ 6,247
" Loss from discontinued
operations $938 $- $63,027
Balance Sheet Data
As of December 31,
. 2003 2002
Current assets $ V7 $ 57
Total assets L 404 444
Current liabilities 1,040 57%
Long-term liabilities and .
minority interest 193 225
Net fiabilities of discontinued ° ’ ;
(360)

operations (828) -
certain events
operations’ of’
in connection

The information below pertains to
and activities associated with the
World.com and include: financings
with - India.com, -domain. names included in
discontinued - operations, the acquisition and’
subsequent disposition of elong.com, which was
renamed to Asia.com, Inc., and other acqu'smons \
made by World.com. .

India.com_Financing

During the third quarter of 2000, India.com, Inc., a
wholly-owned subsidiary, issued 1,365,769 shares: of
Series A convertible exchangeable preferred stock
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to . private investors valued at $14.2 million: These:

shares were convertible: into India.com Class .A. -
common stock at the initial purchase price of the =
~ preferred shares, subject to certain anti- dilution and .

other ' adjustments. The holders of the Series -A.
stock .were-

convertible exchangeable preferred.
entitled to a. one time- right exercisable during the

60 days:-after September 13, 200] to exchange"

these shares for the number of shares of. EasyLink -
Class A common stock equal to the original:

purchase price of such shares divided by the lesser

of the market price of EasylLink’s Class A common-

stock on September 13, 2001 (but not less than

$45.00) and $60.00. This exchange rlght was’ since

modified as described-. below

The Company entered into a, Brtdge Fundmg and- -
Amendment Agreement with India.com, Inc. (the -

“Bridge .Funding Agreement”). Under the Brldge
Funding - - Agreement, . the

Company borrowed -

approximately $5 million from its majority-owned -

subsidiary India.com and issued to India.com bridge

notes evidencing these borrowings -(the “Bridge.

Notes”). Under-the Bridge Funding Agreement, the
Company issued to India.com warrants to purchase
20,000 sharés of EasyLink’s Class A common stock
at an_exércise price of $13.00 per share in

considération of the commitment under the Bridge

Funding Agreement. In addition, India.com received -

warrants to purchase an additional 16,000 shares of

EasyLink Class A common stock for each $| million-

drawn down by the Company under the Bridge
Funding Agreement. As a result of the drawings
under the Bridge Funding Agreement, the Company

Agreement Amendment’) between the Company
and the holders. of india.com preferred stock,.all of
the holders: of the outstanding shares of india.com
preferred stock exercised their right to exchange
their shares of India.com preferred stock for shares :
of the Company’s Class A common stock based on
the average of the closing market prices of the
Company’s. stock over the five trading days ending
on September [3, 2001, subject to a floor on the
exchange price of $10.00 and a cap of $30.00 and
subject to adjustment in  certain circumstances.
Based on the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s stock, the exchange price was $10.00 -
per share and. 1,420,400 became -issuable upon
consummation of the exchange. As of.
September 30, 200!, the closing of the exchange
transaction was subject to compliance with the
requirements of the NASDAQ stock market. The:
Company entered into the Exchange Agreement
Amendment in connection with the elimination of -
its obligations under the $5 million aggregate
principal amount of bridge notes and the warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of the

" Company’s Class A common stock issued to
India.com. o
On - October 17, 2001, the Company and the

issued an additional 80,000 warrants at exercise .
prices ranging from $6.20 to $14.00 per warrant. -

In consideration of the commitments under the

Bridge Funding Agreement, the period during which
the one-time exchange right of the holders’ of
India.com preferred stock was changed from the 60-
day period immediately after September- 13, 2001 to

the 60-day period immediately -after December. 31, .

2001. In addition, the floor price at which shares of .

EasyLink Class A common stock may be issued upon

the exchange was reduced from $45.0 per share to
$30.00 per share immediately upon execution -and -

delivery . of the Bridge . Funding Agreement -and was
subject to further reduction to $12.50 per’ share for
a percentage of the total number of shares of india
Preferred Stock that is equal fo the percentage of
the Bridge Notes drawn down.

Pursuant to an Exchange'Ag-reémenth;nendment
entered into on July 17,0 2001 (the “Exchange
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- outstanding
common stock were converted into options to -

holders ‘of India.com preferred stock completed the
exchange of India.com preferred stock for 1,420,400
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock.”

eLong.com, Inc.
On March 14, 2000, the Company acquired
eLong.com, Inc., a  Delaware corporation

(“eLong.com”), for approximately $62 million
including acquisition costs of $365,000. eLong.com,”

‘through its wholly owned subsidiary in the People’s

Republic of-China (“PRC”),-operated the Web Site
www.elong.com, a provider of local content and
other “internet services. Concurrently with the
merger;. eLong.com changed. its-name to Asia.com, -
Inc. (“Asia.com”). In the merger, the Company
issued to the former.stockhdlders' of eLong.com an
aggregate of 359,949 shares of EasylLink Class A
common . stock  valued - at - approximately
$57.2 million, based upon the .Company’s average
trading price at . the date. of acquisition. All
options to purchase elong.com

purchase an aggregate of 27,929 shares of Easylink
Class A common stock. The value. of the options
was approximately $4.4 million -based on the Black-
Scholes pricing model with.-a 110% volatility factor,




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

a term.of 10 years, an’ weighted average exercise::
price: of $12.40 per share-and a. welghted average L

fair value of $I56 90 . per share

The acquisition was” accounted’ for as a purchase

business’ combination. The excess of the purchase

price -over the fair market: value of the aciiiuired
assets and assumed liabilities - of Asia.com was
allocated to goodwill ($62 million). Goodwill was

being - ‘amortizéd over a period of 3 years,® the .

expected estimated period of benefit. During the
fourth quarter of 2000, approximately $7.8 million
of goodwill"was- written ‘off :as it was deterined

that the tarrying value had become permanently.
impaired as a- result of the'November 2;-2000' -

decision, as approved by the Board of Directors, to
sell” all assets not related to--its core mi€ssaging

business, including:its Asia-based businesses. After: -

giving effect to:the write off, the net goodwill
balan¢e at:December 31,

In addition, the Company was obligated to issue up

2000 was $38.2 miillion.™ -

o an additional 71,990 shares of EasyLink- Class A
common stock "in the aggregate to the ‘former
stockholders of eLong.com if EasylLink or Asia.com - -

acqgired’-less than $50.0 million

in- value of -

businésses engaged 'in developing, marketing or

providing' consumer or business internet portals and’

related- services focused ‘on the Asian mdrket or a

portion thereof, oi businesses  in" furtherance of =

such a business, prior to March 14, 2001. In May
2001 the Company issued 7,500 shares of Class A

common’ stock in settlement of this contingency.

Ih the rnerger, certain former stockholders of

elong.com retained shares of Class A common .

stock of Asia.com, representing approximately 4.0%

of the outstandmg common stock of Asia.com. -

Under - 2- Gontribution Agreement with Asia.com,
these stockholders contributed an aggregate of

$2.0 million in cash to Asia.com in exchange for -

additional shares of Class A common stock of
Asia.com, representing approximately:- 1.9% of..the
outstanding common stock of Asia.com. Pursuant
to the Contribution Agreement,

Asia.com and Singapore.com and $10.0 million in
cash and (2) agreed to contribute to Asia.com up
to an additional $10.0 million in cash over the next

12 'months and to issue, at the request of Asia.com; -

. Easylink .
(1) contributed to Asia.com the domain 'names -

up-to an.aggregate of 24,242 shares of EasyLink ..

Class A .common stock for future acquisitions. As of

June 30, ~2000, the Company had fulfilled this.:

obligation. See also “Asia.com.Acquisitions”, below."
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As-a result ofithe transactions efféected purstant to -
the Merger ‘Agreement . and the Contribution ~
Agreement, EasyLink initially owned shares of Class
B common stock- of .Asia.com representing
approximately 94:1% - of. the ‘outstanding common
stock: of Asia.com. The company’s ownership
percentage decreased to 92% as of December 31, -
2000. Asia.com 'granted to management employees
of Asia.com options to purchase Class A common
stock. of Asia.com representing, as of December 31;
2000, 9% of the outstanding shares of common
stock after “giving effect to the _exercise " of such

; optlons g

D TE

Sale of eLong.com Inc.

On May 3, 2001, the Company’s majority owned
subsidiary Asia.com, Inc. sold its business to an
investor. group. Under the terms of the sale, the
buyer paid. ‘Asia.com $1.5 million and assumed:
elong.com-liabilities of approximately $1.5 million,
The consideration paid was determined as a-result
of negotiations between the buyer and EasyLink. In
addition, the Company issued* 20,000 shares’ of “its
Class A common- stock .valued at $138,000 in
exchange for the cancellation of certain options
granted to the former owners of eLong.com. The
Company accounted’ “for this transaction as part of.
the sale of the. business of Asia.com. As a result of
the sale, the Company recorded a loss on the sale
of eLong.com, Inc. of $264,000, After the closmg of
the sale, the Company issued 36,232 shares. in

. January 2002 to elong.com, Inc. in full satisfaction of .

an indemnity obligation. The. indemnity oblogatlon'
arose out. of eLongcoms settlement of a clalm
brought by former Lohoo shareholders for a.
contingent payment. Lohoo was previously acquired ..
by elLong.com, Inc.

Maurltlus Entlty

On March 31, 2000, the Company acqulred 100% of "
a Mauritius entity, which in turn owned 80% of an
Indian -subsidiary. The terms were ‘$400,000 in cash
and a $1 million 7% note payable one year 'from‘
closing. The='acquisition ' was- accounted for as-a
purchase biisiness’ cornbination. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair market value of the -
assets acquired and  assumed liabilities of “the
Mauritius  entity was allocated to goodwill
($2.1 million). Prior to the Company’s adoption of
SFAS 142 effective January |, 2002, the goodwill was -
being .amortized. over a period of five years, the
expected estimated. period of benefit. :
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In June.2000, the Company acquired, through the: -

Mauritius entity, the remaining 20% of the Indian

subsidiary for $2.2 million.- The acquisition *was .

accounted for as a purchase business combination.
The excess of the purchase price over. the fair
market value of the assets acquired was allocated to
goodwill ($2.2 million). Prior to the Company’s

adoption of SFAS 142 effective January [, 2002, the '

goodwill. was being amortized over a period of five
years, the expected estimated period of benefit.

In connection with the Mauritius acquisition, the
Company incurred a $1.8 million charge related to
the issuance of 10,435 shares of Class A common
stock, as compensation for services performed,
$200,000 cash and an additional $200,000 payable in
EasyLink Class A common stock as compensatlon
for employees

On October 31, 2001, the Company's India.com,
Inc. subsidiary sold 90% of the share of its Multiple
Zones Prvt. Ltd. Subsidiary. The Company recorded
a nominal gain on the transaction.

India Acqmsmon and Dlvestlture

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company
acquired a US and India based company for
approximately $600,000, including acquisition costs.
The terms were $300,000 in cash and 19,600 shares
of Easylink Class A common stock valued at
approximately $272,000 based upon our average
trading price surrounding the date of acquisition.
The acquisition was accounted for as a''purchase
business combination, The excess of the purchase
price over the fair .market value of the assets
acquired and assumed liabilities has been allocated
to goodwill ($831,000), which was being amortized
over ‘a period of three years, the expected
estimated period of benefit. '

The Company subsequently transferred this
acquired business to the former management of its
India.com subsidiary. As part of the transaction, the

transferred business assumed all of the liabilities of

the transferred business and certain liabilities of
India.com. In consideration for the assumption of
these liabilities, the Company contributed to the
transferred business immediately prior to the sale in
January 2002 56,075 shares of Class /A common
stock valued at $0.3 million and $300,000 in cash.

(10)

Prior to 2001, the Company financed its equipment
(hardware and software) requirements under capital
lease agreements with a number ‘of leasing

Leases
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companies. On November 27, 2001, the Company
closed on the restructuring of the outstanding lease
payment balances related to most of these
agreements. The obligations were converted into a
package . of securities consisting . of senior
convertible notes and other obligations. See Note 7
for a description of the debt restructuring. In
addition, the Company settled certain leased
equipment obligations having an original equipment-
cost of $22.5 million for an aggregate purchase
price. of approximately $3.5 million.

In addition. to capital leases, the Company leases
facilities and certain equipment under agreements
accounted for as operating leases. These leases
generally require the Company to pay all executory
costs such as maintenance and insurance. Rent
expense for operating leases for the years ending
December 31, 2003, 2002 and. 200l was
approximately $4.2 million, $3.4 million, and
$4.3 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, the Company had $744,503
in gross amount of fixed assets and $561,824 of
related accumulated amortization under capital
leases. Future minimum lease -payments under the
remaining  capital leases and = non-cancellable
operating leases (with initial or remaining lease
terms in excess- of one year) as of December 31,
2003 are as follows, in thousands:

Year ending December 31,7

Capital Operating
leases leases
2004 $146 $ 4321
2005 37 2,836
2006 : - 2,130
2007 ., . - 1,868
2008 - 2,183
2009 and later - 5018
Total minimum lease payments $183 $18,356
Less current portion of
obligations under capital leases 146
Obligations under capital feases
excluding current portion

$ 37

(I

Federal Partners, L.P. Financinés

Related. Party Transactions '

On january 8, 2001, the Company issued $5,000,000
principal amount. of 10% Senior Convertible Notes -
due January 8, 2006 to Federal Partners. Stephen:
Duff;a director of the Company, is Chiéf Investment

Officer of The Clark Estates, Inc. and is Treasurer of -
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the general: partner of; and a limited partner of, -

Federal Partners, L.P. The note accrued interest at:

the rate of 10% per annum and.was payable semi- ~

annually one half in cash and, at the option of the
~Company, one half in shares of Class A common
" stock valued at the conversion price of $10.00 per
share. The Company issued shares to Federal
Partners in payment of interest on this note during
2003, 2002 and 2001. The Clark Estates,
provides management and administrative services to
Federal Partners. On March 20, 2001, the Company

Inc.

issued to Federal Partnérs' 300 000 shares of our
Class A common stock for a purchase price of
$3, 000000 and committed to issue to Federal -

Partners an additional 100,000 shares of Class A
common stock if the closing price of our Class A
common stock on the principal securities exchange

on which they are traded was not at or above $100
per share for 5 consecutive days. The additional

shares were isstied in 2002.'As part of the financing

completed on November' 27, 2001 in connection’
with our debt- restructurmg, "the Company issued to -
Federal Partners an aggregate of 250,369 shares of -

Class A common stock for a-purchase price of

-$1,700,000, and we committed to issue to' Federal
Partners' an additional *173,632 shares of Class A
common stock if the average of the closing prices
of our Class A common stock on Nasdag was not
at or above $16.00 per share for the 10

consecutive trading days through year end 2001.The: .

additional shares were issued in 2002. Through his

limited partnership interest in Federal Partners,
Mr. Duff has an indirect interest in 10,789 of the

Zeid 'was elected to the Board of Directors.of the -
Company - and ' was _appointed :President —
International Operations. EasyLink paid $835,294 in
cash, issued 1,876,618 shares of Class A common

stock :valued  at. $30.8 million and issued. a
promissory note in the original. principal amount of
approximately $9.2 million to Mr. Abi Zeid in
payment of the purchase price for the acquisition
payable at the closing. Under the merger agreement,
EasyLink also agreed to pay additional contingent
consideration. to Mr. Abi Zeid equal to the amount
of the net. proceeds, after _satisfaction ‘of certain
liabilities of STI and its sub5|d|ar|es from the sale or
Iqu|dat|on of the assets of one of STI's subsidiaries.

Pursuant ‘to; the. debt restructuring completed ,on
November. 27, 200I Easylink issued $2,682, 964
prlnC|paI amount of restructure notes, 268,295
shares of Class A common stock valued at
approxmately $1.6 million - and - warrants to
purchase 268,295 shares of Class A common stock.

“in exchange for Mr. Abi Zeid's $9.2 million note. In

connection with the acquisition. by STI on
January 31, 2001 of the Easylink Services business
from AT&T Corp., Mr. Abi Zeid pledged to AT&T

- Corp. under a Pledge Agreement dated January 31,

200! all of the, shares of EasyLink Class A Common
Stock that he was entitled to receive pursuant to
the acquisition .to secure a $35 million note issued
to AT&T Corp. by STI and assumed by Easylink as
part of the purchase price for the EasyLink Services .

* business. As .a result of the debt restructuring

shares. of Class A common stock held by Federal

Partners. .

On. May'l,‘

2003, Fet:ieral Partners exchanged the

$5 million note for 2.5 million ‘shares of Class A -

common stock value of approximately $1.4 million.
In addition, on April 30, 2003, Federal. Partners
purchased 1,923,077 shares of Class A common
stock of Easylink at a purchase price of $.52 per
share or $I

million - in the aggregate. Federal. .

Partners and accounts for which The Clark Estates, .

Inc. provides management and
services, were beneficial holders as of May |, 2003
of 13.02% of the Companys comman. stock,

Aequisitioh ot' Smft Telecommunications, Inc.

administrative

- promissory note '

The Company acquire‘d Swift-TeIecommunications, .

Inc. on February 23, 2001, George Abi
sole shareholder of Swift Telecommunications, Inc

Zeid was the -

(“STI”). In connection with the acquisition, Mr. Abi -

completed on November 27, 2001, these shares
now secure the $10 million principal amount of
restructure notes issued to AT&T Corp. in exchange
for the $35 m|II|on note held by it. In connection
with the acquisition of STI on February 23, 2001,
EasylLink also entered into a conditional
commitment to acquire the 25% minority interests
in two STl subsidiaries for $47,059 in cash,
promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount
of approximately $517,647 and 106,826 shares of
Class A common stock. This transaction ‘is subject :
to certain conditions, ‘including  satisfactory
completion of due diligence, receipt of regulatory
approvals and other customary conditions. On
May |, 2003 in connection with the Company’s debt
restructuring, Mr. Abi  Zeid exchanged the
in the principal amount of
$2,682,964 for 1,341,482 shares of Class A common
stock valued at approximately $765, 000 and agreed
to defer intérest payments ‘due to him in the
amount of $283 504 See Note 7 - Notes Payable.

Mr. Abi *Zeid also agreed to contrlbute up to
approximately 1.2 million shares of Class A common
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stock issuable ‘to him-
November - 2001

.in_ connection - with .the .
debt restructuring in order to

permit the grant of shares or options: to employees.

Shares awarded. from this commitment: were valued -

at $0.5 - million and were accounted for .as

compensatnon expense in the fourth quarter of

2001.

Fax-2 Acquisition and Divestiture - -

e o

Under an Echusivity and" Royalty Agreement among
Daniel 'Kuehier, Kurt Winter and EasylLink Services

dated May 30, 2000, EasyLink Sérvices acquired -

from Messrs. Kuehler and Winter the rlghts to-

develop, market and ' deploy the "Fax-2 "business

concept. Fax-2 allows users to send faxes to any
email address.” Mr. Kuehler is the 'son of Jack”
until”

Kuehler, a director of "EasylLink Services
September 30, 2002. Each of Messrs. Kuehler and

Winter received: | 000 shares of EasyLlnk Services "
Class ‘A common stock upon execution of the .

agreement and were entitled to a 10% royalty up to’

$100,000 ‘on all’ revenue generated by. Fax-2 and

thereafter a 1% royalty on such revenue so long as

spectﬁed performance and “operating condltlons
were maintained. Mr. Kuehler also entered’into an
employment agreement which - entitled him to
receive full' compensation and benefits through

June 15, 2001 if his employment is_terminated for -

any reason other than cause before then‘
Mr. Kuehler also received on June |5, 2000 a grant

Company would have the right to license future .
modifications, enhancements or replacements to the
FaxMail Service developed by FaxMail.

(12) Capital Stock

Reverse Stock Split

Effective January 23, 2002, the Company authorized
and implemented a' | for 10 reverse stock split.
Accordingly, all share and per share amounts in the”
accompanying consolidated financial statements have -
been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse
stock split.

Authorized Shares

In 2001, the Company amended its amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, in
order to increase the number of authorized shares
up to 570,000,000 consisting of 500,000,000 .and
10,000,000 shares of Class A and Class B common
stock, respectively; and 60,000,000 undesignated
shares of -preferred stock, all classes with a par

" value of $0.01 per share. These'amounts continue

of 3,000 options at an exercise equal to fair market -

value at the time of grant. These options were to

vest over four years. The Fax-2 service was re:’
named “the FaxMall Servnce whlle owned by the

Company

On October 4, 2001, the Company and Messts.
Kuehler and Winter entered into a Divestiture
Agreement which superceded the Exclusivity and
Royalty Agreement ‘Under” the Divestiture

Agreement, the’ Company transferred to an entity

formed by Messrs, Kuehler and ‘Winter and to be |

named FaxMail exclusive permanent rights to
develop, market and’ deploy the FaxMail Service.
Under the Divestiture Agreement, the Company
would own [0% of FaxMail. Under the arrangement,
the parties agreed that the Company would also be

entitled to receive a royalty ‘on all business referred,

by it to FaxMail equal to 20% of the’, gross revenues
of the business referred. The parties. also agreed

that each party would have independent ownership '

of certain technology underlying.the FaxMail Service
as of the date of the Divestiture Agreerment and the

. preferred stock.

to represent the respective numbers of authorized
shares of the Company as of the date hereof.

Common Stock -
Voting Ri.gh‘ts‘

Each ‘share of Class A common stock has one vote
per share. Each share of Class B common stock,
which is owned by the Chairman, shall have ten
votes per share, and ‘may convert into one share of
Class A common stock."

Liquidation: Preferenée

In the event the Company is liquidated, dissolved or
wound up, the 'holders of Class A and Class B
common- ‘stock will be entitled to
distributions only after satisfaction of all liabilities

and the prior rights of any outstanding class of
if the Company is liquidated,

dissolved or wound up, its legally available assets
aftei satisfaction of all liabilities  shall be distributed

to the holders of Class A and Class B common

stock.pro rata based.'on the respective numbers of
shares of Class A common stock held by these

holders or issuable to them upon conversion of-
Class. B common stock.
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Private Placements of Common Stock

On March 20, 2001, the Company complete‘d a

private placement of 300,000 shares of Class A

common stock (the “Common Shares") with a "
cof

private investor for
$3,000,000. Pursuant

an
to

aggregate
-the Common

price
Stock

Purchase Agreement dated as of March 13, 2001
between the Company and the private investor and’

subject to the effectiveness of a registration

statement covering shares of Class A common .,

stock” issuable upon conversion” of  certain
convertible notes, EasyLink was obligated to issu€
an additional 100,000 shares of Class A common

stock to the private investor if thé closing price of

the Company’s Class A common stock was not at
or above $100 per share for at

were issued -in january 2002

On Apr|I 30 2003, the Company completed a
private placement of 1,923,077 shares of -Class A

least -five
consecutive trading days: durmg 2001. These shares

common stock for an aggregate” prlce of $1,000, OOO _

to Federal Partners.

India.com, Inc. Preferred 'S'to'ck:‘ Exchange'

On October 17, 2001, the Comipany ‘and the
holders of India.com preferred stock completed the
exchange of India.com preferred stock for
approximately }.4 million shares of the Company’s
Class A-common stock valued at approxnmately $6.1
mllhon See Note 9 Dlscontmued Operatlons

Settlements

During 2002 and 2001, the Company issued 226, 391

and 878,838 shares of Class A common stock,
respectively, in connection with various settlements

of certain obligations' and. for payment of services
rendered valued at $706,000 and $6.6 million,

respectively, in the aggregate. The 2002 ‘issuarice is
comprised of 106,534 shares in conhnection with
vendor settlement, 21,016 shares in connection with

third " party vendors, 36,232 in connection W|th_‘

Lohoo settlement, 56,075 shares in connection with
Myindia.com sale, 6,534 shares in_cohnection with

Mylndia.com contingent I|ab|||ty The 2001 issuance’
is comprlsed of 196,604 shares in connection with’

vendor settlements, 300,000 shares ‘in" connection
with the TIl settlement, 162,083 shares in
connection with ' the’ TCOM settlement 103,359
shares in connectlon with payment of a promlssory
note, 53,319 shares in connection with merger
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agreements -and 33,292 shares in .connection with
Asia.com settlements, 10,590 shares in connection.
with India.com settlements, and 19,591 . shares in
connection with New Millenium settlement. In
addition, 888,810 and 294,533..shares. of Class A
common stock were issued during 2002 and 2001,
respectively, in lieu. of cash interest. payments -on
Senior. - Convertible Notes and. subordinated
debentures valued at $1.8 and $06 million, |
respectively, in the aggregate.

Common Stock and Warranfs iss'ued in Debt
Restructuring and Related Financing

Under the terms of the - Companys debt
restructuring completed on Noévember 27, 2001,
the Company exchanged an aggregate of
approximatély $63  million of debt and equipment
lease obligations for an aggregate of approximately
$20 million of restructure notes and obligations due
in instaliments commencing June 2003  through June
2006, 1.97 million shares of Class A Common Stock
valued at $12.0 million and warrants to purchase
I.8 million shares of Class A Common Stock valued
at $0.5 million. $9.1 million in' principal amount of
the restructure notes are convertible into shares of
Class A common stock ‘at a conversion price of
$10.00 per share, subject to adjustment.

As a condition to the debt restructuring the
Company completed a financing. $5.875 million of
this financing was represented by ‘the investment ‘of-
cash in exchange for 1,468,750 shares of Class A
common . stock. Approximately.$3.0 million -of this
financing was represented by the exchange of
$1.4 million. of cash equipment purchase obllgatlons
held” by lessors and $1.6 million of other ‘cash:
obligations held by AT&T for an aggregate of
820,000 shares of Class A common stock

Unde5|gnated Preferred Shares

The Company is authorized, without further
stockholder approval; to issue authorized but
unissued shares of preferred stock in one or more
classes or series. At December 31, 2003 and 2002,
60,000,000 authorized shares of undesignated
preferred stock were available for creation and
issuance in this manner.

(13)

In 2001, the Company recorded compensation
expense of approximately 0.5 million for a transfer
of common stock and stock options from an officer

Stock Options
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to certain employees. (See Note |1, Related Party
Transactions - Acquisition of - - Swift
Telecommunications Inc.) SRS

During 2001, the Company granted to its employees

and "directors under’its stock option plans a total-
of 973,017 options to ‘purchase shares of Class A -

common stock with an average exercise price of
$4.64 per share. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company had a total of options outstanding with an
average exercise price of $13.50 per share.

In connection with the
restructuring, the Company issued upon the closing
of the restructuring, warrants to purchase
1.8 million shares of Class A common’ stock’ at
$6.10 per share. See Note 7 for a description of the
restructuring and the warrants. ‘

A summary of the Company’s. stock option activity
and weighted average exercise prices is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2003, 2002 2001
‘Weighted Weighted Weighted
* ' Average Average *  Average
Exercise - Exercise ‘Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options Price
Options outstanding at
beginning of period
Options granted 2470,131  $1.14 1,285300 $ 1.04 973017 $ 464
Options canceled (290,047) $723  (367.732) 52044  (449,665) $40.49
Options exercised (71,550) $0.98 97 - (2,000) $ 5.00

Options outstanding at

end of period 4881980 $4.00 2773446 § 680 1855781 $13.50

Options exercisable at

period end 2,200,787 1,174,560 810,483

Weighted average fair i
value of options granted .
during the period = .- ° $0.90 ' - $0.93 . $3.92

The following tﬁable summarizes information about
stock options outstanding and exercisable at
December 31, 2003: - »

-Company’s ~ debt

2773446 $6.80 1,85578) $1350 1334429 $28.60 -

Options Outstanding
Weighted Weighted

Options Exercisable

Range of Average  Average
Exercise '+ Number Contractual Exercise Number . Exercise
Prices g Outstanding Life . _Price  Exercisable Price
$0.53-0.70 . 526,400 9.40 $ 054 3750 § 0.3
$0.98- 25 2,921,064 9.00 $ LIS 1,006,356 $ 098
$1.58-230 - 681,410 7.50 $ 214 530981 $ 218 .
$2.69-4,00 67,690 7.20 $ 359 53839 $ 377
$4.20-6.30 88,597 420§ 507 73798 $ S
$6.60-9.06 - 10,380 7.00 $ 784 7002 $ 786
$10.00~14.69 217,968 6.30 $ 1238 173,727 $ 1226
$16.56-23.36 . 275210 5.00 $17.43 259930 $ 17.15
$32.44-40.00 42,728 4.20 $ 35.00 42,705 § 3500
$50.00~74.61 31,039 5.40 § 5228 29,949 - § 5203 -
$118.6~175.00 18,269 6.10 $155.74 © 17,543 $155.73
$190.00-200.00 957 520 $192.71 957  $192.71
$294.80-294.80 268 7 120 $294.80 250  $294.80
s : 4.881,980 830

"§$ 400 2200787 § 701

On May 31, 2000, the Board of Directors approved

the cancellation and re-issuance of 50,000 options
to an executive at an exercise price of $55.30 per
share based on the closing price of the Company’s
Class A. .common stock on May 3, 2000. The
options. had an. original exercise .price of $124.40.
The new options vest at the same rate that they
would have vested under previous plans. Pursuant
to FIN 44, stock options re-priced after
December 15, 1998 are subject to variable plan
accounting. To date, the Company has not recorded
any compensation charge as the fair market value of
the Company’s common stock has been below the
new exercise price. o ’

On November 14, 2000, the Company, -offered to
certain employees, officers and directors, including .
the executive mentioned above, other than the
chairman, the right to re-price certain outstanding
stock options to an exercise price equal to $16.90,
the closing price of the Company’s Class A common
stock on NASDAQ on November 14, 2000.
Options to purchase an aggregate of up to 632,799
shares were repriced. As. of December 31, 200) "
options to purchase 532,595 shares ‘were
outstanding. The re-priced options will vest at the
same rate that they would have vested under their
original terms except that shares issuable upon
exercise of these options were not able to be sold
until after November 14, 2001. Pursuant to FIN 44,
since the new ‘exercise price was equal to the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock on’
the new measurement date, the Company did not
record any compensation cost in connection "with
this program. However, depending upon. movements
in the market value of the Company’s Class A
common stock, this accounting treatment may result’
in significant non-cash compensation charges in
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future .’perieds. To: -date; : the Company.rrhas not"

recorded any compensation charge as the fair

market value of the Company’s common ‘stock: has .

been below the new--exercise - prsce

(14)

401 (k) Plan

On january 3; 2000, the Cenﬁpany‘esfabllshed‘é'

Employee Stock'and"-Savings"Plans

401 (k) Plan (“the plan”). Sub;ect to Internal Revenue B

Service ' “Code lifnitations, - part|C|pants '

‘may-
contribute from 1% to 15% of pay éach pay period -
on a before tax basis, subject to statutory limits. .

Such contributions are :fuII'y and immediately. vested.

The Company will match 50% 'of the first'6% of ‘an '

employée’s contribution with “shares” of Class-A

common stock. Vesting of ‘the Company’s matching”

contributions  begins at’ 20% . after
anniversary of date of hire or plan commencement
date, whichever is later, increasing by 20% each year

thereafter through the fifth year until full vesting .
occurs: The Company’s matching contributions :of -
531,545, 314,642, and 75,209 -shares .of Class ‘A~
common stock, for the years ended December 31, .

2003, 2002 and 200l resulted in. compensation
expense of $492,000, $437000
respectively.

Due to the acquisition of STI, the Coﬁpehy 'has
various pension plans in other countries.- The
participants may -contribute from 2.5%.to 10.5%..of

pay each period on a before tax basis, subject to:.

statutory limits. Such contributions are fully and
- immediately vested. The Company will match 4.5%
up to 20% of a participant’s contribution. Vesting of
the- Company’s .matching contribution is immediate.
The Company’s. matching contributions.. for. the
years ended December 3I,
amounted to $2|0000 $454 000 and $220000
respectively. :

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 14, 2000, the Board of Directors
adopted, and on May |8, 2000, the shareholders
approved the Easylink Employee Stock Purchase
“Plan (the “ESPP"). Eligible employees can contribute,
through a payroll deduction in 1% increments, from
a minimum of 1% to a maximum of 10% of base
salary or wages. Each purchase period lasts for six
months beginning on the first day of January and
the first day of July. The purchase price is set at 85%
of the lower of the fair market value of EasyLink

the first

and $412,000,

2003, 2002 and 2001 -
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.workforce’

Class A common stock on the first day of the’

* purchase period or on the last day of the purchase

period, The fair market value will be determined
based on the closing sales price on the NASDAQ

- National - Market. If - EasyLink shares cease to be

traded ' on the NASDAQ National Market, a
committee of at least two members of the board

of directors will determine the fair market value in.

the manner -prescribed by the plan. During 2001,
employees purchased 3,869 shares at an average
price of $4.91' per share. At December 31, 2001,
approximately 94,000 shares were reserved for
future {issuances.

‘Durmg 2001, the Company decided to discontinue- -
any active participation in the ESPP. This resulted in
freezing the plan effective June 30, 2001. The
Company has the option of reinstating the plan at
a later date.

(15)

During-2003, 2002 and 200!, restructuring charges of
$1.5 ‘million, $2.3 milion” and $25.3 million,
respectively, werre recorded by the Company. During
2003 'and 2002, the Company’s restructuring, -
initiatives “are related  to the relocation and
consolidation of its New Jersey-based office facilities
into’ one location ‘and a similar consolidation of its*
office facilities in England. The relocation process was
completed in the first 6 months of 2003. The
restructuring charges are comprised of abandonment - -
costs with respect to leases, including the write-off of
leasehold improvements. Diiring 2001, the Company’s
restructuring initiatives are related to our strategic
decisions to exit the consumer messaging business
and " to focus on the Company’s outsourced
messagmg business. The Company’s restructuring
program included an incremental reduction in the
of approximately 150 employees. o
Employees affected by the restructuring were
notified by direct personal contact and by written
notification. The remaining employee benefit
termination amounts were paid out in- 2002. In -
addition, asset disposals of $24.] million reflect
write-downs of excess fixed assets and other assets -
to their' net realizable values.

_Restructuring Charges

The lease abandonments represent the cost to exit
the facility leases. The remaining amounts are to be
paid out over the next 3 years which corresponds
to the terms of the lease.’
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The following sets forth -the activity -
Companys restructurlng reserve (in thousands): -

in the

For the year ended December 31, 2003

* Current year

- Current year Ending’ .

.. Beginning . provision-
balance {reversal) utilization balance
Employee termination benefits  § 140 $ (129) $ an. . -
Leas€ abandonments 2,175 1,607 (1,035) 27470
Othet -exit costs 47 Lo @n o =
] §1478 . $2,747

$2,362 $(1.093) -

- For the year ended December 31, 20h2 .

- .+~ Current year . . .
Beginning  provision  Current year Ending .
balance  (reversal) utilization balance
Employee termination benefits $228 - $ (88) $ 140
Lease abandonments 539 2,143 *(507) . 2,175
Asset disposals . : - 162, (162} -
Other exit costs 32 15 L - 47
$799 $2,320 $(757)

'$2.362

(16) Income Taxes

There is no provision for federal, state or local, and
foreign income taxes for all periods presented, since
the Company has incurred losses for tax purposes
since inception. At December. 31,

million, respectlvely, of federal net operating loss
carryforwards . available to offset future _taxable

2003 and 2002, .
the Company had approxmately $164.0 and $188:4.

income. Such carryforwards expire in various years

through 2023, The Company has .recorded a full

valuation . allowance against its deferred tax assets

since management believes that, after considering all .

the avallable objectwe evidence, it is'not more likely

than not that these assets will be realized.
Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2003
the valuation. allowance decreased by $15.8 million
and for the year ended December 31, 2002 the
valyation_allowance increased by $448,000. The tax
effect of temporary differences that give rise .to.

S|gn|f‘cant portions of federal deferred tax assets .

principally. consists of the Companys net operatlng
loss carryforwards.

Undet vSectioh 382 of the Internel Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), the utilization of

net operating loss carryforwards may be limited
under the change in stock ownership rules of the
Code. As a result of numerous historical equity

transactions, the . Company has experienced
“ownership. changes,” ‘as defined by Section 382.0.
As.a result of a study of its equity transactions, the
Company has determined . that there
significant limitations on its ability to offset future
taxable income with its existing net operating loss
carryforwards.

exists .
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The elimination -of. outstanding- debt in'-2003 will
result in -substantial-income. from cancellation of
debt: for .income “tax": purposes. The ' Company
intends to minimizé ‘its income’ tax payable as a.
result of the restructuring by, among other things,
offsetting ‘the jincome  with: 'jts historical net
operating losses and otherwise reducing the income
in accordance with applicable income tax rules. As
a result, the Company does not expect to incur any
material . current income tax liability from the
elimination of this. debt. However, the relevant tax_ .
authormes may: challenge the Companys income tax. -
positions. See Note 18,
The effects of temporary dlfferences and tax loss .
carryforwards ‘that, .give rise to sngnlf‘ icant. portions -
of federal deferred - tax. assets .and _deferred _tax
liabilities at December 31,.2003 and 2002 are
presented below, |n thousands

ST e K ' December 31,

e LTy T T 2003 2002
Deferréd-tix assets: - o :
Net operating loss carryforwards *. $ 65,588 $ 79,548 .
Accounts receivable principally dueto -+ .. s : ‘

allowance for doubtful accounts 1,624 2,277 °
Non-cash compénsation =~ "= = % T e Lt 398
Plant and.equipmert, pr|n¢|pally due to C : o

differences'in depreciation . 817 1,416
Write down of assets and investments 6,703 7,038_'
Accrued expenses 577 590
Restructuring reserve 790 801
Other L 235 112
Gross deferrad tax-assets LRI 76,334 92,180
Less: valuation allowance-. (76,334) (52,180)
Net deférred tax assets = . .. . 3 = $ . -

Of the total deferred tax assets of $76.3 million
existing :-6n December 31, 2003, subsequently -
recognized tax benefits, if any, in the ‘amount. of
approximately’ $5.6- million will be. ‘applied directly to" '
contributed capital when realized. This amount -
relates 'to thé tax-'effect of deductions. for -stock -
options included in the Company’s net opérating -
loss carryforward.
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(7

GT Ay Wi el

Valuatlon and Qualifying Accounts-
Addmons‘and write-offs chargea to.the- a!lowance

o

- for dotbtful: accounts .is presented beldw, - in..
thousands.. . - . oo v e LT LY e
S o Additions < -V Tl T
: s . Balance at charged to.. Additl . «Bal . Balance
Allowance for begmning costs and from . Deductions/ ‘at end
doubtful accounts of year  expenses acquisitions write-offs of period ..
For the year ended
December 31,2001 $ 777 $7.224 $8.731 $2,185 $14.547
For the year ended @ .. . : o
December 31, 2002 $14,547 $2,596 L 2 $ 8052
For the year ended et e

Deéember}_ll 2003 )
(18)

Maste?' Can:ie,'ﬁ Aéreem”eht S

s80s2 s 1 s - s3:9
Commitments ‘and” Contihgencies
Lo . ; i L I TR N

N PR

s 4824

in connection with the - acqu1smon of the EasyLink ~

Services business from AT&T. Corp the Company

entered into a Master" Carrier Agreement with'

. AT&T. Under this agreement, AT&T has, provided
the Company with a variety of telecommumca’clons

services ‘that are reqmred inconnection Wlth the

-prows:on “of the Company’s services. The term of

the agreement for network connection serwces s
for 36 months through May 2005 and the term of -

the agreement for private line and satellite services™

expired in March, 2004. The Company is negotiating

with AT&T to extend the ' prlvate line and satellite
services agreement for a period” of 18 ‘to 24
months. Under the agreement, the Company has a
minimum  purchase commitment for '~ network
connection services equal to $3 million for -each of
the three years of the contract. If the Company
terminates the network connection services or the
private line and sateflite services prior to the end
of the term or AT&T terminates the services for
the Company’s breach, the Company must pay to
AT&T a termination charge equal to 50% of the
unsatisfied minimum purchase commitment for
these services for the period in which termination
occurs plus 50% of the minimum purchase
commitment for each remaining commitment period
in the term. During 2003, the Company entered
into a separate agreement for a term of 36 months
ending in September 2006 for switched services
from AT&T which includes a minimum revenue
commitment of $120,000 per year.

Other Telecommunications Services
The Company has committed to purchase from

MCI Worldcom a minimum of $75,000 per month
-in  other telecommunications services through
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January- 2005 and ‘. to. purchase

month in services through November, 2004. The

from XO -
.Communications, Inc.,-a minimum -of $35,000. per-

Company- also . has one year commitments to. .
purchase internet bandwidth services from various-

providers that aggregate approximately $43,000 per
month. -

Legal Proceedings °

From time to timé the Company has been, and *
legal’

expects to- continue fo be, subject to-
proceedlngs and claims in the ordinary course of
business. These - include claims of alleged:
infringement ‘of third- :party patents, trademarks,
copyrights, domain ~ names and other similar”

proprietary rights; employment claims; and contract

claims. These claims include pending claims “that
some of our services employ teéhnology covered by
third ‘party patents. These claims, "éven "if not

meritorious; could require the Company to expend"

significant financial and managerial resources. No

assurance can be given'as to the outcome of one
or more claims of this nature.'if an infringement -

claim were determined in a manner adverse to the "

Company, the- Company may be

‘required to’

discontinue ‘Use of any infringing technology, to pay o

damages and/or to pay ongoing license fees which’

would' increase the Company’s ‘costs’ of provndmg"

the service.

The Company has also received notices or claims .

from certain. third parties for disputed and unpaid -

accounts payable. The . Company believes that it has -
appropriately. reserved for the amount of. any
liability that may arise out of these matters, and,
management believes that these matters. will be -

resolved without.a material effect on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations. .

In connection with- the .termination of an agreement '

to sell.the portal operations of the Company’s
discontinued India.com . business, the: Company

brought suit against a broker_ that it had engaged in .

connection with the proposed sale. of the portal .

operations - alleging; among other things, breach of

contract and misrepresentation. The broker brought.
Company™ for a

a - counterclaim against the
brokerage fee that would have been payable on the

- closing of the proposed sale. The .court entered -a

judgment in the amount of $931,000 against the
Company. In- response to the . judgment, the

Company filed a motion to alter the judgment in ~

which the Company, among other things, requested .
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that the Court vacate the judgment or reduce the
amount: of damages. On February 20, 2003, the

Court vacated the original judgment and entered a-

declaratory judgment in the Company’s favor that

the Company does not owe the broker any fee or-
other compensation arising from the failed sale of -

the portal operations. On March
broker filed a motion to amend the judgment or for
a new trial requesting, among .other things, re-
instatement of the original judgment or, in the
alternative, a new trial. On September 10, 2003, the
Court reinstated the previously vacated judgment in
favor of the broker in the original amount of

$931,000. The Company has, filed for an appeal. The,
Court has permitted the Company, in lieu of posting.

an appeal bond, to place $50,000 per month for eight

months commencing November 7, 2003, for. a total

13, 2003, the .

of $400,000, into a trust account to provide funds '

for the payment of the judgment if upheld on appeal, ‘
The broker appealed the Court’s order permitting

the Company to place funds in the trust account in
lieu -of posting an appeal bond. Although. the

Company intends to pursue its appeal vigorously, no

assurance . can be given as to the Company’s
likelihood of success or its ultimate liability, if any, in
connection with this matter. Although the Company
intends to defend vigorously this .matter, it can

provide no. assurance that. its ultimate liability, if any, . .

in connection with the claim will not have a material.

adverse effect on its cash flows.

On November 19, 2003, Depository Trust Company
or DTC instituted suit against the Compary in the

United States District Court for the District of:

New Jersey for moneys allegedly due. under a
sublease entered into by the Company in

September- 1999 for premises located in Jersey City,
New Jersey. DTC seeks additional moneys from the

Company to' compensate DTC for alleged damages
resulting from the Company’s afleged breach of the: °

Sublease and the resulting termination thereof by

DTC in-October 2001. The original:sublease term
was through December 30, 2005. The Company’s

obligations ‘under the sublease consisted of annual -

fixed rent of approximately’ $500,000 and additional

rent: based on expenses relating to- the building .- '
allocated to the Company under the sublease..The.-

Company has filed an Answer and Counterclaim
against DTC, seeking the return of all or a

substantial portion of the proceeds of a $1 million .

letter of credit procured by the Company to secure . -

its obligations under the sublease and drawn upon
in full by DTC and alleging that DTC failed to -

mitigate. damages by ‘not re-renting the space. The

Company believes that it has meritorious defenses
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to the claim filed by DTC and believes that the -
Company’s counterclaim is meritorious. Although
the, Company intends to defend vigorously " this

matter, the Company can give no assurance that its - -

ultimate liability, if any, in connection with the claim -
will not have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, f‘nanclal condition or cash .
flows. ' -

Other

The Company’s tax. filings may be subjéct to
challenge by various tax authorities. See Note [6.

Although the Company believes its tax positions are
in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations, they may be subject to interpretation by
such authorities. The Company cannot predict
whether any changes to its anticipated tax positions
and filings could impact its resules of operatlons a
financial condition or’ cash flows.

An' _Indian-based sdbsndlary of the Company’s
dlscontmued Indla com Inc. subsidiary has received
notices of tax ‘assessment from the Indian tax
authorities  for approxnmately '$650,000 in tax .
assessments. The  subsidiary, which ceased
operations in December 2001, intends to defend
the assessments, The Company has established what
it believes to be appropriate reserves for any
liability of the subsidiary for these assessments.
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(19
Unaudited
2003 " .Condensed

Quarterly Financial

Quarterly

Information -

Consolidated

Statements of Operations (in thousands, except per - -

share data)

" Third

Second

Fourth First
Quarter ' Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenues $24,738 - $25,065 $25802 $25742
Cost of revenues 11,622 10,863 13,361 13,707
Gross profit . - 13,116-.* 14,202 12,441 12,035
Operating expenses 12,571 . 12,760 . 12,787 14,595
Income (loss) from - - . .
operations 545, 1442 . (346) . (2,560)
Gain/(loss) from debt . o
restricturing 412 S - L 47,026 6,640
Other income/(expense); net (116} {75) .(304). - (778)
Income from continuing
operations 841 1,367 46,376 3,302
Loss from discontinued ' :
_operations (100). (838) . - -
Net income $ 741 § -529 .$46376 $ 3302
Basic_and diluted income
per share:
Income from continuing
operations $ 002 $ 003 % 128 $ 0.19
Loss from discontinued ‘ Lo :
operafions .- . (0.02) L= =
Net income $§ 002 $ 00l $ 128 $ 019
2002  Condensed  Quarterly Consolidated
Statements of Operations (in thousands, except per
share data)
Fourth Third Second  First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenues $26,003 $28017 $30,029 $30,305
Cost of revenues 13,434 14,012 14,282 15,872 -
Gross profit 12,569 14,005 15,747 14,433
Operating expenses!" 93,926 18,009 15,706 16,046
Income (loss) from
operations (81,357)  (4,004) 4} (1,613)
Gain/(loss) from debt :
restructuring - 6,558 - -
Other income/{expense),
net® (2,315) (796)  (1,320)  (1,039)
Income (loss) from
continuing operations (83,672) 1,758 (1,279) (2,652)
Loss from discontinued
operations - - - =
Net income (loss) $(83,672) % 1,758  $(1.279) $(2,652)
Basic and diluted income
(loss) per share:
Income (loss) from
continuing operations $ (486 $ 010 $ (0.08) $ (0.16)
Loss from discontinued .
operations = = = -
Net income (loss) $ (486) % 010 $ (008) $ (0.18)
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(20) Geographic

Due to changes in the number of  shares
outstanding, quarterly loss per -share amounts do
not necessarily add to the totals for the years.

M Included in* operating expeiases
impairment .- and restructurmg .charges
$79,394 in Q4 2002 ‘

are
of

@ Included in  other mcome/(expense) are
impairment of investment charges of $1,515 in
Q4 2002. - , .

Disclosure

" Geographic Information A
For. the Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
United States: '
Revenues $77,019 $ 89,356 $ 100,442
Operating income (Ioss) “(175) - " (84,543) (168,019)
Total assets 49,408 58,704 161,366
Long lived assets 27,585 34317 -, 129,331
All other regions: - : -
Revenues 24,328 24,998 23,487
Operating income (loss) (742) (2,390) (4,222)
Total assets 4 2,307 8,876
Long lived assets 951 1,544 2311
.Signiﬂcant country included -in all other regions
United Kingdom: . :
Revenues 20,463 20,940 19,032 .
Operating income (loss) 172 (1,798) (3,755)
Total assets 1,176 2,453 7,758
_Long lived assets . 541 938 1,599

Geographic data is classified based on the location
of the Company’s operation that provides selling
and general account maintenance of the customer’s
accounts.



Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board"of Directors - R . - v

EasyLink Servnces Corporatlon Co

We have audlted the accompanying consohdated balance sheets- of Easylink Services Corporation and
subsidiaries. ‘as of December 3}, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year.
period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our respon5|b|I|ty is to express an opinion on these consolldated financial statements’
based on-our-audits. ' S

We conducted our audits in accordance .with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall f‘nanaal statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

in our opmton the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Easylink Services Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years.in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. e o

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will-
continue-as a going concern. As discussed in Note |(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
has suffered recurring losses from operations since inception and has a working-capital deficiency that raises
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to this matter
are also described in Note I(b). The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of this uncertalnty

As d|scussed in Note I' (i), 1(j) and 6, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accountlng Standards
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, as of January ! 2002.

/sl KPMG LLP

New York, New York
February 12, 2004
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Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

2003 Stockholder Data - Market Price

Fourth  Third . Second  First -
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

High $1.96 $2.65 3088  $1.00
Low $1.11 $0.63 $045  $0.40
End of Quarter $1.49 $1.63 $0.68 . $0.46 .

2002 Stockholder Data - MQrket Price

Fourth Third Second:  First -
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter ..

High U sl60 . $295 . $3I5  $670
Low . $051  $066  $0.96  $255 °°

End of Quarter $0.64 $|.46' <. $1.25 $2.70 1ol

The Nasdaq closing market prlce at February 27,
2004 was $1.61.

Dividends

The Company has never declared or paid any cash
dividends on its common stock and does not .
anticipate paying any cash dividends on its stock in
the foreseeable future. The Company currently
intends to retain future earnings, if- any, to"pay its -
obligations and to finance the éxpansion of its
business.

Number of Security Holders

At February 27, 2004, the approximate number of
holders of record of Class A and Class B common
stock was 721 and [, respectively.

Stock listings

The brincipal market on which the common stock

is traded is the NASDAQ National Market under
the symbol “EASY”

This annual report may contain statements of a

forward-looking nature relating to the future events or -
the future financial results of EasyLink. Investors are

cautioned that such statements are only predictions

and that actual events or results may differ materially.

ln  evaluating such statements, investors should

specifically consider the various factors that could

cause actual events or results to differ materially from
those indicated from such forward-looking statements.

These risks and uncertainties are described in the

Company’s most recent prospectus and other filings

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

and in subsequent filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission.
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